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Coal-fired Power Plant

Peaking Power Plants

Hydro Power Plants

Power-related Technology
Companies

Power Management & Consulting
Company

Group Structure

Asia Power Corporation Limited

100%

33.3%

35%

30%

60%

25%

25%

51%

Sichuan Anning River Energy Development Co., Ltd
 (52 MW)

Commission Date: 2005
Investment Date: 2002

Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., Ltd

Incorporation Date: 1994
Investment Date: 2000

Shanghai Witlong Electric Co., Ltd

Incorporation Date: 1999
Investment Date: 2003

Asia Power (Shanghai)
Management Consulting Co., Ltd

Incorporation Date: 2002
Investment Date: 2002

Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd
 (13.5 MW)

Commission Date: 1991
Investment Date: 1998

Changzhou Huayuan Electric Power Co., Ltd
(59.6 MW)

Commission Date: 2003
Investment Date: 2003

Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao
Heating & Power Co., Ltd (225 MW)

Commission Date: 1955/1996
Investment Date: 1998

Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd

Changzhou Plant (51MW) 
Commission Date: 1996
Investment Date: 1999

Yangzhou Plant (48W) 
Commission Date: 1996
Investment Date: 2001
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The Group
Asia Power Corporation Limited (“Asia Power” or the
“Group”) is principally involved in the ownership,
management and operation of power plants in China.
The Group has invested in six power plants and two
power-related technology companies as well as a power
business consulting company in China.

Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd
(“Xinbao”)
Xinbao is the single largest subsidiary of Asia Power.
It is a coal-fired combined heat-and-power plant with
a total installed capacity of 225 MW. Being the only
cogeneration power plant in the city of Qiqihar in
Heilongjiang Province, it supplies electricity to the
power grid and provides heat and steam to industrial
and residential users.  Acquired by Asia Power in May
1998, Xinbao has since become a major contributor
to the Group’s performance.

Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd
(“Neijiang”)
Neijiang is a hydropower plant located in the city of
Neijiang in Sichuan Province.  Being an environmentally
friendly hydropower plant, Neijiang relies on water as
the driving force to generate electricity. Neijiang,
currently running on a total installed capacity of 13.5
MW, has a 30% stake in Sichuan Anning River Energy
Development Co., Ltd, a hydropower development
company with a total installed capacity of 52 MW in
Sichuan Province.

Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd
(“Changzhou Suyuan”)
Changzhou Suyuan owns, manages and operates two
peaking power plants with a total installed capacity of
99 MW in Jiangsu Province. The first plant in Changzhou
with a total installed capacity of 51 MW was acquired
in March 1999. The second plant in Yangzhou with a
total installed capacity of 48 MW was acquired with
effect from January 2001 through a restructuring
exercise. Asia Power is presently the single largest
shareholder of Changzhou Suyuan, owning 25% of its
paid-up capital.

Changzhou Huayuan Electric Power Co., Ltd
(“Changzhou Huayuan”)
The principal activities of Changzhou Huayuan are to
develop, manage and operate a peak-load, combined-
cycle power plant in Changzhou City in Jiangsu Province.
The plant is equipped with a total installed capacity
of 59.6 MW, comprising a gas turbine of 39.6 MW and
a steam turbine of 20 MW. The plant went into full
operation in December 2003. Asia Power has a 25%
stake in Changzhou Huayuan.

The Group has invested in six power
plants and two power-related
technology companies as well as a
power business consulting company
in China.

Corporate Profile
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Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., Ltd
(“Shenzhen NARI”)
Shenzhen NARI is a power-related technology company
specialising in the design, manufacturing and assembly
of computerised automation systems used for the
regulation of electricity flow and protection of power
grid systems. The company is being classified as a
“high-tech” company by Shenzhen municipal
government. Asia Power has established a direct interest
of 35% in Shenzhen NARI.

Sichuan Anning River Energy Development Co., Ltd
(“Anning River”)
The purpose of incorporating this new company is to
build hydropower stations along the Anning River. The
Sankeshu hydropower station at a capacity of 52 MW
is the first to be developed. The station has commenced
operation in January 2005. Neijiang has a 30% stake
in Anning River.

Shanghai Witlong Electric Co., Ltd
(“Shanghai Witlong”)
The principal activities of Shanghai Witlong comprise
mainly manufacturing and distribution of power
automation systems and auxiliary equipment used by
electric power regulating, generation and transmission
facilities as well as providing engineering consultation
services on related power projects. Asia Power owns a
33.3% stake in Shanghai Witlong.

Asia Power (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd
(“Asia Power (Shanghai)”)
The company was incorporated as a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Asia Power in August 2002 in Shanghai,
China. The principal activities of the new company are
to provide power-related business consultation and
management services as well as to assist in Asia Power's
management of power plants and business development
in China.

Xinbao is the single largest
subsidiary of Asia Power.
It is a coal-fired combined
heat-and-power plant with
a total installed capacity

of 225 MW.
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Xinbao 51% Heilongjiang May 1998 225 MW Coal-fired, CHP

Changzhou Suyuan - Changzhou Plant 25% Jiangsu Mar 1999 51 MW Combined-cycle, peaking

Changzhou Suyuan - Yangzhou Plant 25% Jiangsu Jan 2001 48 MW Heavy diesel-fired, peaking

Changzhou Huayuan 25% Jiangsu Jun 2003 59.6 MW Combined-cycle, peaking

Neijiang 60% Sichuan Feb 1998 13.5 MW Hydro, run-of-river

Anning River - Sankeshu Station 30%1 Sichuan May 2002 52 MW Hydro, diversion

Shenzhen NARI 35% Guangdong Jul 2000 n.a.

Shanghai Witlong 33.3% Shanghai Jun 2003 n.a.

Asia Power (Shanghai) 100% Shanghai Aug 2002 n.a. Power business consulting

Existing Investment Portfolio

1 The investment was made through Neijiang and Asia Power’s effective interest in Anning River is 18%.

Power automation and

protection systems

Power automation and

auxiliary equipment

Date of Installed
Investment Stake Location Investment Capacity Type
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Chairman’s Statement
A Year of Progress
The past year has been a challenging year for power

plant operators in China due to tighter profit margins

caused by coal and oil prices escalation and a cap on

electricity tariff. Despite these challenges, Asia Power

emerged stronger and turned in another year of good

results.

For financial year 2004, the Group reported a year-on-

year jump in net earnings of 142% to S$5.5 million

from S$2.3 million backed by revenue growth of 3.3%

from S$82.9 million to S$85.6 million.  Our revenue

growth was due to higher sales at our subsidiaries,
namely Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power
Company (Xinbao) and Asia Power (Neijiang)
Hydroelectricity Company (Neijiang) of S$2.4 million
and S$0.3 million, which was in line with higher
electricity generation volume of 8.6% and 5.1%
respectively. Group profit increase was mainly attributable
to improved profit contributions from Changzhou
Huayuan Electric Power Co., Ltd, Neijiang, Shanghai
Witlong Electric Co., Ltd and Shenzhen NARI
Technologies Co., Ltd of S$1.8 miilion, S$267,000,
S$228,000 and S$338,000 respectively.

Earnings per share based on the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue and on a fully diluted
basis more than doubled to SGD 1.70 cents.

During the year, the Group welcomed on board five new
directors. Most of them formerly held senior positions
in China’s provincial power bureaus and listed power
companies. Their extensive experience and industrial
knowledge in China’s power sector will help chart the
Group’s strategic development, enhance the level of
management and operation skills, and achieving greater
value for the shareholders of the Company.

Outlook & Prospects
China’s economy is expected to continue growing at its
present rate thereby sustaining demand for electricity
consumption. Greater electric power demand will be
driven by both industrial and residential requirements.

Looking into the future of China’s power market, we
expect continuous price hikes for fossil fuels (coal and
oil) to result in an ever increasing interest in
environmentally-friendly renewable energy resources
that can be supplied by wind turbines and hydroelectric
stations.  Asia Power will continue to explore and seek
out projects on those renewable energy resources and
make appropriate investments that will provide adequate
shareholder returns.

Baring unforeseen circumstances, we expect the Group
to remain profitable in the next financial year.

Rewarding our Shareholders
To reward shareholders, the Board of Directors has
proposed a first and final tax-exempt cash dividend of
SGD 0.5 cents per share and a special tax-exempt cash
dividend of SGD 0.2 cents per share for fiscal year
2004.  This is a 40% increase over previous year’s
SGD 0.5 cents dividend.

In Appreciation
On behalf of the board, I would like to express my
appreciation to my fellow directors, the management
and staff for their dedication and contribution to the
company.  We would also like to thank our business
partners and valued shareholders for their continual
support and confidence in the Group.  We look forward
to your continuous support in bringing Asia Power to
a new height.

Wong Sow Voon
Chairman
15 March 2005

Despite the challenging year, Asia
Power emerged stronger and turned

in another year of good results.
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Operations &
Financial Review

Industry Outlook and Prospects
China’s total installed generating capacity soared above
450,000 MW in 2004, an increase of 11.5% from last
year. Nonetheless, China’s demand for electricity will
continue to grow in 2005, by an estimated 13% to
between 20 million and 25 million KWh.

China is the second largest power market in the world
after the United States and depends on coal for about
two-thirds of its energy needs. However, the resulting
pollution and the recent string of coal mine disasters
have brought home the huge environmental and human
costs of this heavy reliance on coal. The Chinese
government has now placed top priority to address this
concern by looking at alternative energy resources such
as renewable energies to help ease the reliance on coal.

Record oil prices and the difficulties in securing new
fields and pipelines have also prompted China to
accelerate the diversification of its energy sources,
including greater use of renewable energy and building
more nuclear power plants. Renewable energy such as
wind and solar accounted for only 3% of China’s total
consumption in 2003.  The government plans to raise
this figure to 10% by 2020.

Riding On the Wave of Growth
China’s exploitable hydroelectric resources stands at
378,000 MW, equivalent to annual power supply of
1,920,000 million KWh, topping the world and making
up 16.7% of the world’s total. Hydropower resources
are one of the renewable energies that could be tapped
on a large scale. China’s overall generating capacity of
hydroelectric power plants reached 92,170 MW by the
end of 2003, about 24% of the country’s total power

generating capacity. China has been increasing its
investment in hydroelectric projects as part of its
sustainable growth strategy to reduce pollution and
over-reliance on coal as the country’s primary source
of energy.

With its large land mass and long coastline, China also
has relatively abundant wind resources. Areas rich in
wind resources are located mainly along the southeast
coast and nearby islands and in Inner Mongolia, Xinjiang
and in some parts of Northeast China, Northwest China,
North China, and the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau.  Aside
from this, there are also certain areas in China’s interior
that are rich in wind resources.

China’s Academy of Meteorological Sciences estimates
that the practical wind energy potential on the Chinese
mainland is 235,000 MW (at a height of 10 meters).
At an estimated 23–29% capacity factor, annual
potential production of electricity from wind power
could be as great as 506–632 billion KWh.  China’s
installed wind capacity has grown from a mere 4 MW
in 1990 to 567 MW by end of 2003 as a result of
recent policy reforms, dedicated Research &
Development initiatives, new financing mechanisms,
and clear goals in the most recent Government Strategic
Five-Year Plans. China has also passed a new law
mandating the use and development of renewable
energy sources, such as wind and solar power, to address
its heightened energy shortage and worsening pollution.

The push for greater use of renewable energy is part of
the Chinese government’s broader strategy for sustainable
development. In view of this, we have realigned our
business strategies and identified environmentally-
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Group revenue for the fiscal

year 2004 grew to S$85.6

million, an increase of 3.3%

from the previous year’s

S$82.9 million

friendly and renewable energies such as wind and
hydropower to be the next engine of growth. Such
projects are expected to generate better value for the
shareholders of the Company in the future.

In January 2005, Asia Power had announced that the
Company intended to invest approximately S$7.56
million in a joint venture for the purpose of setting up,
constructing and developing a new wind power plant
in China. The Group had therefore successfully raised
about S$4.48 million through a private placement to
partially finance the proposed investment. 30 million
new ordinary shares were issued and the enlarged total
number of shares as of date is 351,191,010.

Financial and Operational Performance
Group revenue for the fiscal year 2004 grew to S$85.6
million, an increase of 3.3% from the previous year’s
S$82.9 million. This was mainly due to higher sales
at our Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power
Co., Ltd (Xinbao) and Asia Power (Neijiang)
Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (Neijiang) of S$2.4 million
and S$343,000, which was in line with higher electricity
generation volume of 8.6% and 5.1% respectively.

The Group registered a 37.4% year-on-year jump in
profit before taxation of S$9.9 million as compared to
S$7.2 million in FY2003.  The increase was mainly
attributable to improved profit contributions from
Changzhou Huayuan Electric Power Co., Ltd, Neijiang,
Shanghai Witlong Electric Co., Ltd and Shenzhen NARI
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Technologies Co., Ltd of S$1.8 million, S$267,000,
S$228,000 and S$338,000 respectively.

This was however, partially offset by the Group’s share
of higher pre-operating loss incurred by Sichuan Anning
River Energy Development Co., Ltd (Anning River) of
S$801,000, lower profit contributions by Changzhou
Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd and Xinbao that reduced
by S$197,000 and S$1.2 million respectively. The
lower profit contribution by Xinbao was due to provision
for doubtful receivables of S$718,000 and unlike
FY2003, there was no government grant to defray repair
and maintenance expenses in FY2004.

Updates
Our board of directors welcomed the addition of five
new members in July 2004. They are mostly senior
power industry professionals from China. With the latest
additions, our company is even more poised to broaden
our investment portfolios as well as widen our market
share and in so doing, generates higher value for our
shareholders.

Operation wise, Anning River, an investment made
through our subsidiary, Neijiang, commenced operation
in January 2005. We expect Anning River to start
contributing to Group profit in FY2005.

Asia Power will continue to tap into the growth

in China’s power market, focusing our efforts

on environmentally-friendly and renewable

energies such as wind and hydro power to

be our next engine of growth.
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Asia Power will continue to tap into the growth in China’s
power market, focusing our efforts on environmentally-
friendly and renewable energies such as wind and hydro
power to be our next engine of growth. As such, our
investment strategy will shift from large coal-fired
cogeneration power plants and oil-fired combined-cycle
peaking plants to renewable, clean and green energy
sources. We will also focus on acquiring and developing
wind power projects, as well as medium to large
hydropower projects. At the same time, we will continue
to retain and further invest in power-related technology
companies as power transmission infrastructure in China
has always had great potential.

Moving Ahead
We are confident that the demand for electricity will
remain strong for the coming year. Led by the push for
alternative energy resources, China has set up a new
renewable energy law to meet short-term energy needs
while strengthening long-term sustainable development
objectives. The law aims to reduce air pollution, safeguard

the environment, and manage climate changes while
at the same time supply power to off-grid rural areas.
Incentive policies will be drawn up to encourage the
development of renewable technologies and create
business opportunities.

Asia Power will be riding on the wave of this growth
and will capitalize on investment and acquisition
opportunities in the renewable energy sector as well as
other power-related technologies sector.

Meanwhile, electricity dispatch volumes at our various
power plants are likely to maintain relatively high levels,
while our power-related technology businesses that
provide integrated solutions to the power grid system
are expected to grow in tandem with the upgrading and
modernization of power grids in China.

Baring unforeseen circumstances, we expect the group
to remain profitable in the next financial year.
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Turnover 65,067 60,894 108,562 95,758 80,685 39,573 85,631

Profit before Tax 8,720 12,799 19,582 14,403 5,970 1,393 9,860

Net Profit Attributable to Shareholders 5,200 7,360 8,262 6,317 2,430 891 5,451

Share Capital & Reserves 27,739 44,223 53,786 56,150 57,063 54,959 58,183

2.18 2.39 1.81* 1.37* 1.36* 0.28 1.70

2.18 2.39 2.58 1.97 0.76 0.28 1.70

Final Dividend Payout Per Share (Cents) n.a. 0.50 0.75 0.50 0.50 0.25 0.70

Net Tangible Assets Per Share (Cents) 11.56 13.82 14.57 15.60 15.86 15.27 16.41

Financial Highlights

*The exceptional items relate to:
• FY2001 Gain on partial disposal of interests in an associate
• FY2002 Gain on partial disposal of a subsidiary
• FY2003 Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

# Change of financial year-end from June to December

JUL -
FY1999 FY2000 FY2001 FY2002 FY2003 DEC’03# FY2004
S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Earnings Per Share before
Exceptional Items (Cents)

Earnings Per Share after
Exceptional Items (Cents)
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Company is committed to achieve high level of corporate governance relating to the processes and structure by which

the business and affairs of the Company are directed and managed within the Group in compliance with the recommendation

of the Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) issued by the Corporate Governance Committee. This statement

outlines the main corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company and discloses their deviations, if any, from

the Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of Its Affairs

The Company is headed by the Board to lead and control the company so as to protect and enhance long-term

shareholder value. Its main responsibilities are to:

• ensure the compliance of its statutory and regulatory responsibilities;

• set and review the Group’s overall business strategies and policies;

• supervise and monitor executive management;

• approve the nomination of directors and appointment of key personnel;

• ensure an adequate system of internal controls and compliance with financial reporting requirements; and

• approve annual budgets, investment and divestment proposals and review the Group’s financial performance

and managerial performance.

To facilitate effective execution of its function, the Board has established the following Board Committees. The Board

Committees operate under clearly defined terms of reference. The Chairman of the Board Committees report to the Board

the outcome of the Committees’ meetings:

(a) the Audit Committee (“AC”);

(b) the Share Option Scheme Administration Committee (“SOSAC”);

(c) the Remuneration Committee (“RC”);

(d) the Nominating Committee (“NC”); and

(e) the Strategic Development Committee (“SDC”).

The full Board meets regularly about four times each year. Ad-hoc meetings are convened as warranted by particular

circumstances. In addition to these meetings, special corporate events and actions requiring Board immediate approval

were discussed over electronic mails and telephonic conference and resolved with directors’ resolutions in writing. Article

99 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides for telephonic conference meetings.

The attendance of the directors at meetings of the Board and Board Committees during the year under review is set out as

follows:

Attendance Record of the Board & Board Committees

(1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004)

(a) 1 January 2004 to 11 July 2004

Share Option

Scheme

Name of Director Board of Audit Administration Remuneration Nominating

Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee

Total Number of
Meetings Held 2 2 1 1 1
Wong Sow Voon 2 2 1 1 1
Chang Pan, Peter 2 2* N.A. N.A. N.A.
Ng Fook Ai, Victor 2 2 1 1 1
Gosta Bjorkenstam 2 2 N.A. 1 –
Li Tianfei 2 N.A. 1 N.A. N.A.

* By invitation
N.A. Not applicable
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With effect from 12 July 2004, the Board of Directors has been reconstituted with following changes. In order to seize the

great opportunity in the robust development of the China’s power industry, it is of paramount importance for the Company

to set up its strategic development action plan, enhance the level of management and operation skill, competency and

professionalism for achieving greater value for the shareholders of the Company. 5 new directors, which have vast experience

and in depth expertise in the China power industry, have been appointed as follows:

(1) Mr Addyson Xue, as an Executive Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Strategic Development

Committee and Asia Power Share Option Scheme Administration Committee.

(2) Mr Zhang Gangzhu, as a Non-Executive Independent Director, Chairman of the Nominating Committee, member

of the Strategic Development Committee and Audit Committee.

(3) Mr Meng Xianwu, as a Non-Executive Director, member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee.

(4) Ms Wang Liping, as a Non-Executive Independent Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

(5) Mr Chen Hailiang, as a Non-Executive Director and member of the Remuneration Committee.

At the same time, Mr Gosta Bjorkenstam resigned as a director of the Company and also as Chairman of the Remuneration

Committee and member of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee. The Board of Directors thanked him for his

past contributions to the achievement of the Company.

Dr Chang Pan, Peter resigned as the President of the Company to pursue his personal business interest. He has accepted

the Board of Directors’ decision for him to remain as a Non-Executive Director of the Company and was duly elected as a

member of the Asia Power Share Option Scheme Administration Committee. The Board of Directors expressed its high

regards and appreciation of Dr Chang Pan’s past contribution to the achievement of the Company.

Following Dr Chang Pan’s resignation, Mr Li Tianfei (the Company’s Vice President in charge of China operation) was

appointed as the President of the Company. Mr Li is also a member of the Asia Power Share Option Scheme Administration

Committee and Strategic Development Committee.

Consequent to the changes of the members of the Board of Directors, the various committees of directors have been

reconstituted.

(b) 12 July 2004 to 31 December 2004

Share Option

Strategic Scheme

Name of Director Board of Audit Development Nominating Remuneration Administration

Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee

Total Number of
Meetings Held 2 1 2 – 1 –
Wong Sow Voon 2 N.A. N.A. – 1 N.A.
Addyson Xue# 2 N.A. 2 N.A. N.A. –
Li Tianfei 2 1* 2 N.A. N.A. –
Ng Fook Ai, Victor 1 1 N.A. – N.A. N.A.
Zhang Gangzhu# 2 1 2 – N.A. –
Wang Liping# 2 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1 N.A.
Chang Pan, Peter 2 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. –
Meng Xianwu# 2 1 N.A. N.A. 1 N.A.
Chen Hailiang# 2 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1 N.A.

* By invitation
# Appointed on 12 July 2004
N.A. Not applicable
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Matters Requiring Board Approval

The Company has adopted internal guidelines on the following corporate events and actions requiring Board approval:

(a) announcement of results;

(b) audited results and annual reports;

(c) transactions in acquisition and disposal;

(d) changes in corporate strategies;

(e) declaration of interim dividends and proposed final dividends; and

(f) all matters, which are delegated to Board Committee, are to be reported to and monitored by the Board.

Training of Directors

The Company does not have a formal training program for the directors but newly appointed directors are provided with

extensive information regarding the Group’s businesses and governance practices. Directors also have the opportunity to

visit the Group’s operational facilities and meet with management to be familiar with the business operations.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

The names of the directors of the Company in office at the date of this Statement are set out in the Directors’

Report.

With the appointment of five directors and the resignation of a director on 12 July 2004, the Board now has nine directors:

two executive directors, three non-executive independent directors and four non-executive and non-independent directors.

The directors appointed by the Board are subject to recommendation by the NC and election by shareholders at the

following annual general meeting and thereafter, directors are subject to re-election once in every three years. The

composition of the Board is reviewed by NC on an annual basis to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of

expertise and experience.

Given the nature and scope of the Company’s operations, the Board considers its current size sufficient and appropriate.

The Board is considered to have competent and qualified directors who provide the Company with a good balance of

accounting, finance, and management expertise with strategic planning experience and sound industry knowledge.

Independent Members of the Board of Directors

The Board has seven non-executive members, representing 78% of the Board. The Chairman, Mr Wong Sow Voon, is non-

executive and the other three non-executive directors are Dr Chang Pan, Peter, Mr Meng Xianwu and Mr Chen Hailiang.

The three independent members are Mr Ng Fook Ai, Victor, Mr Zhang Gangzhu and Ms Wang Liping. The criterion for

independence is based on the definition set out in the Code. The Board considers its “independent” director as one who

has no relationship with the Company nor financial interest in the Company, its related companies or its officers that could

interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s independent business judgment. Non-

executive members of the Board exercise no management functions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Although

all the directors have equal responsibility for the performance of the Group, the non-executive directors are particularly

important in ensuring that the strategies proposed by the executive management are fully discussed and rigorously examined

and take account of the long-term interests, not only of the shareholders, but also of the employees, customers and

suppliers.

The Board considers its independent directors to be of sufficient calibre and number, and their views to be of sufficient

weight that no individual or small group can dominate the Board’s decision-making processes. They have no financial or

contractual interests in the Group other than by way of their fees and granting of Asia Power Share Options under the Asia

Power Share Option Scheme.
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Principle 3: Chairman and President

The Group keeps the posts of Chairman and President separate and there is a clear division of responsibilities

between the Chairman and the President, which ensures a balance of power and authority at the top of the Group.

The Chairman, Mr Wong Sow Voon and the then President, Dr Chang Pan, Peter, are not related. Dr Chang Pan, Peter

resigned as the President of the Company on 12 July 2004 and Mr Li Tianfei has been appointed the new President

with immediate effect from 12 July 2004. Mr Wong Sow Voon and Mr Li Tianfei are not related.

The President holds an executive position as he has considerable industry experience and remains involved in significant

corporate matters, especially those of strategic nature. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the effective working of

the Board. The Chairman’s responsibilities include:

(a) scheduling of meetings (with the assistance of the Company Secretary) to enable the Board to perform its

duties responsibly while not interfering with the flow of the Group’s operations;

(b) preparing meeting agenda in consultation with the President;

(c) assisting in ensuring the Group’s compliance with the Code; and

(d) leading the Board in deliberation and resolution of corporate affairs and management actions.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day running of the Group to the President. Both the Chairman and the President

exercise control over the quality, quantity and timeliness of information flow between the Board and the management.

As no one individual holds a considerable concentration of power, the Board considers the objectives of the Code to have

been met.

Strategic Development Committee

This Committee was set up in accordance with the resolutions passed at the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 12 July

2004 to carry out the routine functions of the Board. Its objectives are to strengthen the executive function of the Board in

carrying out its resolutions and decisions and to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency in carrying out the Company’s

development plan. The Strategic Development Committee now comprises of 3 members, two of whom including the

Chairman are Mr Addyson Xue, the Executive Vice Chairman and the President, Mr Li Tianfei and the remaining member is

Mr Zhang Gangzhu, a non-executive independent director.

The functions of the SDC, under the guidance of the Board, are:

(a) to organize the holding of Directors’ and Members’ General Meetings in collating proposals, materials and

documents for the meetings;

(b) to request and call for a Directors’ meeting to resolve important and pressing issues of the Company;

(c) to be empowered to ensure the Board’s resolutions and decisions are implemented and to inquire, supervise,

probe into the appropriateness of the function of the management team; and present timely report to the Board

of any issues and problems;

(d) to be responsible for setting up the Rules and Regulations of the Board and for its implementation;

(e) to be responsible for carrying out the Board’s external communications as well as its internal coordinating

functions such as vis-à-vis among all the Directors’ Sub-Committees to enhance the effectiveness of the functions

of the Board; and

(f) to be responsible in carrying into effect the Board’s instruction, in particular in the planning, organizing and

development of the Company’s strategic actions and any other functions as authorized by the Board.
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Principle 4: Board Membership

The NC was established in July 2003, and comprises the non-executive Chairman and two independent Directors.

Members of the NC are Mr Zhang Gangzhu (Chairman), Mr Ng Fook Ai, Victor and Mr Wong Sow Voon.

The role of the NC is to oversee the appointment and induction process for directors. Its responsibilities include re-

nomination taking into account the director’s contribution and performance as well as conducting an annual assessment

on whether or not a director is independent.

The NC considers and makes recommendations to the Board concerning the appropriate structure, size and needs of the

Board, having regard to the appropriate skills mix, personal qualities and experience required for the effective performance

of the Board. The NC also recommends all appointments and retirement of directors and considers candidates to fill new

positions created by expansion and vacancies that occur by resignation, retirement or for any other reasons.

Candidates are selected for their character, judgment, business experience and acumen. Where a Director has multiple

board representations, the NC will evaluate whether or not a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his

or her duties as director of the Company. Final approval of a candidate is determined by the full Board.

In appointing directors, the Board considers the range of skills and experience required in the light of:

(a) the geographical spread and diversity of the Group’s businesses;

(b) the strategic direction and progress of the Group;

(c) the current composition of the Board; and

(d) the need for independence.

Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that at each annual general meeting of the Company, not less

than one third of the directors (who have been longest in office since their appointment or re-election) are to retire from

office by rotation. A retiring director is eligible for re-election by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general

meeting.

As at the date of this statement, the members of the Board and their details are set out below:

Date of Academic and

Appointment Nature of professional

Name of director (last re-election) Appointment Function qualifications

Wong Sow Voon 7 March 1997 Non-executive Member of NC, Master of Science
(29 November 2001) Chairman and RC

Addyson Xue 12 July 2004 Executive Chairman of Post Graduate
(N.A.) Vice Chairman SDC and SOSAC Education Certificate

In Economic
Management

Li Tianfei 14 August 1999 Executive President Member of Master of Science
(N.A.)# SDC and SOSAC in Technical

Economics

Ng Fook Ai, Victor 9 June 1999 Non-executive Chairman of AC; Master of Science
(18 November 2002) Independent Member of NC in Economics

Director

Zhang Gangzhu 12 July 2004 Non-executive Chairman of NC; Master of Science
(N.A.) Independent Member of SDC in Economics

Director and AC

Wang Liping 12 July 2004 Non-executive Chairman of RC Bachelor of
(N.A.) Independent Management

Director
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Date of Academic and

Appointment Nature of professional

Name of director (last re-election) Appointment Function qualifications

Chang Pan, Peter 7 March 1997 Non-executive Member of SOSAC Ph.D in Production
(N.A.) Director Engineering

Meng Xianwu 12 July 2004 Non-executive Member of AC Bachelor of
(N.A.) Director and RC Management

Chen Hailiang 12 July 2004 Non-executive Member of RC Master of Science
(N.A.) Director in Administrative

Management

# Under the Company’s Articles of Association, the President was not subject to rotation.

Particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year in shares and share options in the

Company and its subsidiaries are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Principle 5: Board Performance

The Board recognises the merit of having formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the

contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board. The NC has adopted a set of performance criteria that

is linked to long-term shareholders’ value to be used for performance evaluation of the Board. The set of performance

criteria includes the Company’s share price performance over a five year period benchmarked against the Singapore

Straits Times Index, the Company’s share price performance over a five year period benchmarked against the benchmark

index of the Company’s industry peers, return on assets, return on equity and profitability on capital employed. The

NC will also evaluate the attendance, the individual contribution of directors and their industrial experience and

knowledge.

Principle 6: Access to Information

Directors receive regular supply of adequate and timely information from the management about the Group so that

they are equipped to play as full a part as possible in Board meetings. Detailed Board papers are prepared for each

meeting of the Board and are circulated in advance of each meeting. The Board papers include sufficient information

on financial, business and corporate issues to enable the directors to be properly briefed on issues to be deliberated

at the Board meetings.

All directors have unrestricted access to the Company’s records and information. The directors also liaise with senior

management as required, and may consult with other employees and seek additional information on request. In addition,

the Directors have separate and independent access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible

to the Board for ensuring that established procedures and relevant statutes and regulations are complied with. The Company

Secretary attends all Board meetings.

Should a Director require independent professional advice concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations or undertakings

in order to fulfill his duties and responsibilities as a director, the Board will appoint at the Company’s expense a professional

adviser to assist such Director. The Board has retained the services of a law firm as its legal adviser.

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) was established in Nov 2001. With the reconstitution of the various committees

of directors, it is chaired by Ms Wang Liping, an independent non-executive director, and comprises three other non-

executive directors. It meets at least two times annually.
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The RC reviews and approves recommendations on the remuneration packages for the executive directors and the senior

management and staff based on the performance of the Group and the individual director. No director is involved in

deciding his own remuneration. The review covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees,

salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, and benefits-in-kind. The RC’s recommendations are submitted for endorsement

by the full Board. The Board had consulted external professional firm to provide advice on its remuneration policy.

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

The Group’s remuneration policy is to provide compensation packages at market rates which reward successful

performance and attract, retain and motivate managers and directors. The remuneration packages take into account

the performance of the Group and the individual directors. Directors’ fees are determined and recommended for

approval at annual general meetings.

Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

Details of remuneration and fees paid to the Directors of the Company in the financial year ended 31 December 2004

are set out below:

Remuneration Band Number of Directors

1 January 2004 to 1 July 2003 to

31 December 2004 31 December 2003

$500,000 and above – –
$250,000 to below $500,000 – –
Below $250,000 9 5

A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual Director’s remuneration for the financial year ended 31 December

2004 is set out below:

Name of Directors Salary Bonus Fees Other Benefits Total Options granted

(%) (%) (%) (%) (%)# during the year

Wong Sow Voon – – 52 48 100 –
Addyson Xue 74 26 – – 100 –
Li Tianfei 70 15 15 – 100 –
Ng Fook Ai, Victor – – 98 2 100 –
Zhang Gangzhu – – 100 – 100 –
Meng Xianwu – – 100 – 100 –
Wang Liping – – 100 – 100 –
Chen Hailiang – – 100 – 100 –
Chang Pan, Peter 92 – 5 3 100 –

# – Excludes share options granted during the financial year.

The RC and the Board have considered and are of the view that the remuneration policies are appropriate and fair. As such,

the Board is of the view that there is no necessity at the moment to invite the annual general meeting to approve the

remuneration policies.

Principle 10: Accountability

In presenting the annual financial statements and interim announcements to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board

to provide the shareholders with a balanced assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. The management

currently provides the executive directors with detailed management accounts of the Group’s performance, position

and prospects on a quarterly basis. Non-executive directors are briefed on significant matters when required and

receive appropriately detailed reports on a regular basis.
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Principle 11: Audit Committee

With the new appointment of directors on 12 July 2004, the Audit Committee (“AC”) is chaired by Mr Ng Fook Ai,

Victor and comprises two other directors, namely Mr Zhang Gangzhu (non-executive independent director) and Mr

Meng Xianwu (non-executive director).

The Board is of the view that the members of the AC are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities.

The AC meets periodically with the Group’s external auditors and Accounting and Human Resources Manager and its

executive management to review accounting, auditing and financial reporting matters so as to ensure that an effective

control environment is maintained in the Group. Specifically, the AC:

(a) reviews the audit plans and scope of audit examination of the external auditors;

(b) reviews and approves the internal audit plans of the internal audit team;

(c) reviews the adequacy of the internal audit function;

(d) evaluates the adequacy of the internal control systems of the Group by reviewing written reports from the

internal audit team and external auditors, and the management’s responses and actions to correct any deficiencies;

(e) reviews the annual and interim financial statements and announcements to shareholders before submission to

the Board for adoption;

(f) nominates external auditors of the Company for appointment or reappointment;

(g) reviews interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST) conducted

during the financial year; and

(h) considers other matters as requested by the Board.

The AC is authorised to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and has full access to the management and

also full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings, as well as reasonable resources to

enable it to discharge its function properly. Annually, the AC meets with the Accounting and Human Resources Manager

and the external auditors separately, without the presence of the management. This is to review the adequacy of audit

arrangements, with particular emphasis on the scope and quality of their audits, the independence and objectivity of the

external auditors and the observations of the auditors.

The AC has reviewed the volume of non-audit services to the Group by the external auditors and is satisfied that the nature

and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transactions with interested persons and has set out the

procedures for review and approval of the Company’s interested person transactions.

The significant related party transactions are disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

Principle 12: Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises that no cost

effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage rather

than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The directors, assisted by the Company’s Accounting and Human Resources Manager, who is assigned with the duties

and responsibilities to perform internal audit function, annually review the effectiveness of all internal control systems,

including operational controls and any recommendations made by the AC. The internal audit team comprises the Accounting

and Human Resources Manager, internal audit team from Asia Power (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd, internal

audit representatives from various joint venture shareholders of subsidiary and associated companies and outside

professional consultants on technical issues (if necessary). The internal audit team will report the findings to the local audit

committee of the subsidiary and associate companies as well as the AC.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The AC members are of the view that it would not be cost effective to have an internal auditor (which has to be

independent of other functions) in relation to the operations of the Group. However, the Board and the AC consider

the prevailing practice of performing the internal audit on the subsidiary and associated companies are adequate.

The internal audit function assists the Company’s directors in assessing key internal controls through a structured review

programme. The AC reviews the adequacy of the internal audit function and approves internal audit plans on a regular

basis. The AC also ensures that the internal audit function has adequate resources and has appropriate standing within the

Group.

The Accounting and Human Resources Manager who heads the internal audit team reports primarily to the Chairman of

the AC on internal audit matters and to the management on administrative matters. Material non-compliance and internal

control weaknesses noted during the internal audit and the recommendations thereof are reported to AC as part of the

review of the Company’s internal control system.

Communication with Shareholders

Principle 14: Regular, Effective and Fair Communication with Shareholders

The Company believes in timely and accurate dissemination of information to its shareholders. The Board makes

every effort to comply with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company under the SGX-ST’s Listing Rules and

the Singapore Companies Act. Communication to shareholders is normally made through:

(a) annual reports that are prepared and issued to all shareholders;

(b) announcements of half-year and full year financial results containing a summary of the financial information and

affairs of the Group for the period;

(c) notices and explanatory memoranda for annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings;

(d) disclosures and announcements via SGXNET to the SGX-ST;

(e) the Group’s website at http://www.asiapower.com.sg at which shareholders can access information; and

(f) electronic mails to corporate email address at admin@asiapower.com.sg.

Principle 15: Greater Shareholders Participation

In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meetings held at convenient venue and appropriate

time to ensure a high level of accountability. The annual general meeting is the principal forum for dialogue with

shareholders. The Company values any feedback from shareholders. During the annual general meetings, shareholders

are given ample time and opportunities to air their views and concerns.

The Company allows members to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the annual general meetings, in accordance with

Section 181 of the Singapore Companies Act and Articles 65 to 75 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each distinct issue.
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The Chairpersons of the Board Committees will normally be present for all general meetings and available to address

questions at general meetings. External auditors are also present to assist the directors in addressing any queries by

shareholders.

Corporate Governance on Dealing in Securities

The Company has adopted and implemented the Best Practices Guide issued by the SGX-ST on dealing in securities.

This has been made known to directors, officers and staff of the Company and the Group. In particular, it has been

highlighted that to deal in the Company’s securities as well as securities of other listed companies when the officers

(directors and employees) are in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information in relation to those

securities is an offence. The officers are also discouraged from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term

consideration.

Corporate Governance on Risk Management Policies

The Group has considered and summarised the following significant business and operating risks that arise from the

normal course of its operations.

(i) General business risk

The principal activities of the Group are those relating to owning, managing and operating of power plants and

investment holding. The Group’s power plants in the PRC are subject to governmental regulations in most

aspects of its operations, including the amount and timing of electricity generation, electricity tariff rates,

environmental protection requirements and compliance with power grid control and dispatch directives. The

power industry of PRC is currently undergoing reforms whereby the industry is expected to have significant

changes to the structure and regulations.

(ii) Customer risk

Most of the Group’s power plants collect electricity tariff from a single off taker, which is the respective local or

provincial power bureau or their affiliates. In the event that an off taker defaults on tariff payment, it could have

a significant impact on the performance of the Group. However, the Group has not experienced major disputes

with its off takers on the collection of tariff revenue.

(iii) Fluctuations in raw material prices and supply

Raw materials constitute a large proportion of total operating costs for coal-fired and oil-fired power plants.

Hence, any increases in raw material prices or disruptions in raw material supply could adversely affect the

financial performance of the Group. So far, the Group’s power plants have received sufficient and timely allocations

of raw materials. There can be no assurance that a disruption of raw material supply will not occur in the future.

(iv) Operational risk

The operation of power plants involves many risks and hazards, including the breakdown, failure, or substandard

performance of equipment, natural disasters, labour disturbances, environmental hazards and industrial accidents.

The occurrence of material operational problems, including but not limited to the above events, may adversely

affect the profitability of a power plant. The Group currently maintains a comprehensive property insurance

covering losses caused to the fixed assets of the Group. However, it excludes wars, hostile acts, riots, nuclear

radiation and earthquakes.

The financial risk management objectives and policies are discussed in Note 27 to the financial statements.
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Profile of Directors

Mr Wong Sow Voon is the Chairman of the Company. He has more than 20 years of successful management and

investment experience mainly related to financial services. Since retiring early in 1991 from the position of President and

Chief Executive Officer of British American Insurance Group, Mr Wong has been an active international investor with

personal investments spreading in a number of countries and industries. Mr Wong graduated from University of Singapore

and Northeastern University in Boston where he received a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree and a Master of Science

degree respectively. In addition, Mr Wong attended the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business School. He

is an Actuary by profession, having qualified as a Fellow of the Society of Actuaries in USA and been elected a Fellow of

The Royal Statistical Society in the United Kingdom (“UK”).

Ms Wang Liping is the Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company. She is the Chief Accountant of Changzhou

Electric Power Supply Co., Ltd. Formerly, she was the Deputy General Manager and Head of Finance Department of

Changzhou Electric Power Industrial General Co., Ltd. She holds a Degree in Management from Central Party

Correspondence School in China.

Mr Zhang Gangzhu is the Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company. Currently he is the General Manager of

China Power Finance Co., Ltd. He has over 10 years of experience in PRC power industry. In addition, he held directorships

in several major PRC power companies including SP Power Development Co., Ltd, China Power Finance Co., Ltd, SP

Technology Co., Ltd and SP Nari Co., Ltd. Mr Zhang obtained his Master of Science in Economics from Renmin University

of China.

Mr Ng Fook Ai, Victor is the Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company. He is currently an Executive Deputy

Chairman of China-based Temima China Investments Co., Ltd, a Non-Executive Chairman of Singapore listed company

Devotion Eco-Thermal Ltd, and an Independent Director of Asia Water Technology Ltd. He is also the Non-Executive

Chairman of Asia Development Organisation Ltd and Asia Cable TV Pte Ltd. Mr Ng also sits on the board of several London

listed companies and some other companies in PRC. Mr Ng’s previous professional history includes a stint with the

Singapore’s elite Administrative Service, Group Corporate Planning Manager with Intraco Ltd, Principal (Partner) with

KPMG Singapore and General Manager (Institutional Sales) with JM Sassoon Co. Pte Ltd. Mr Ng holds a B.Sc (Econs)

Hons. and M.Sc (Econs) from University of London and was awarded the University’s Convocation Book Prize as well as

the Lord Hailsham Scholarship. In 1992, he was awarded the PBM (Community Services) by the President, Republic of

Singapore.

Mr Li Tianfei is the Executive Director and President of the Company. He oversees the general management of the Group

and is responsible for its overall business development. He is instrumental in sourcing for new projects for the Company

and in maintaining relations with the Company’s joint venture partners and various authorities in China. He is also currently

the General Manager of Asia Power (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd. Prior to that, he was the Vice President

of Heilongjiang Electric Power Co., Ltd, a company listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has over 30 years of experience

in the PRC power industry, including Daqing Xinhua Power Plant and Harbin No. 3 Power Plant. Mr Li received his Master

of Science in Technical Economics from Harbin Institute of Technology.

Mr Addyson Xue is the Executive Vice Chairman of the Company. He is responsible for the strategic planning, identifying

new projects and overseeing the implementation of the Board of Directors’ decisions. He is also appointed as the Non-

Executive Chairman of Singapore listed company, Asia Water Technology Ltd.  He has over 20 years of experience in the

management and operations of PRC power plants and held senior management positions in a number of major PRC power

companies including Heilongjiang Electric Power Co., Ltd (listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Grand Union Power

Investment & Development Co., Ltd. He obtained his Post Graduate Education Certificate (Economic Management) from

the Institute of Social Science, Heilongjiang.
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Profile of Directors

Dr Chang Pan, Peter is the Non-Executive Director of the Company, he was also the former President and CEO of the

Company. Dr Chang has over a decade of experience in the field of production, computer and software development,

financing and power plant investment as a result of his working for multi-national companies in UK , Singapore , Japan

and the PRC. He serves as the Chairman/Vice Chairman of the Group’s subsidiary power plants and associate companies.

Dr Chang holds a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Harbin Institute of Technology of China and

received his Ph.D. in Production Engineering from Loughborough University, UK.

Mr Chen Hailiang is the Non-Executive Director of the Company. Currently, he is the General Manager (Beijing Head

Office) of Capital-Bridge Securities Co., Ltd. Prior to that he was the General Manager (Beijing Investment Banking Division)

of China Eagle Securities Co., Ltd. He is familiar with the PRC securities and listing rules and regulation especially corporate

restructuring and listing new companies in the PRC. Mr Chen received his Master of Science in Administrative Management

from Jilin University.

Mr Meng Xianwu is the Non-Executive Director of the Company. Currently, he is the Deputy General Manager of Heilongjiang

Huafu Electric Power Investment Co., Ltd. Prior to that, he was the Accountant for Harbin No. 3 Electric Power Plant. Mr

Meng has over 15 years’ experience in finance and investment management in PRC power industry. In addition, he holds

directorship in Wudalianchi Jianlong Mineral Water Co., Ltd, Beijing Huafu Huitong Technology Co., Ltd, Heilongjiang Huafu

Wind Power Mulan Co. Ltd and Heilongjiang Huafu Wind Power Fujin Co. Ltd. He holds a Bachelor of Management from

Shanghai University of Electric Power.
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Profile of Key Executives

Mr Li Tianfei is the Executive Director and President of the Company. He oversees the general management of the Group

and is responsible for its overall business development. He is instrumental in sourcing for new projects for the Company

and in maintaining relations with the Company’s joint venture partners and various authorities in China. He is also currently

the General Manager of Asia Power (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd. Prior to that, he was the Vice President

of Heilongjiang Electric Power Co., Ltd, a company listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has over 30 years of experience

in the PRC power industry, including Daqing Xinhua Power Plant and Harbin No. 3 Power Plant. Mr Li received his Master

of Science in Technical Economics from Harbin Institute of Technology.

Han Fei is the Accounting and Administration Manager in China operations of the Group. Ms Han joined the Group in April

2002 and is responsible for the Group’s accounting, human resources and administration functions. Her working experience

includes 7 years in accounting firms and 3 years in a security company. She holds Master degree in Business Administration

(Major in Accounting) from National University of Singapore and Bachelor of Accountancy from Jinan University, China.

She is also a Certified Public Accountant in China.

Cui Yuqin is the Manager of the Project Department in China operations of the Group. Ms Cui joined the Group in April

2002 and is responsible for the Group’s project screening, analysis and execution. She has about 11 years of working

experience mainly in investment analysis, investment banking and financial consultancy services. She holds Master degree

in Management and Bachelor degree in Management from Shanghai Jiaotong University, China. Ms Cui is a Certified

Public Accountant in China.

Tang Lai Meng is the Accounting and Human Resources Manager of the Company. Ms Tang joined the Company in May

2001 and is responsible for the Group’s accounting, human resources and tax functions. She is also the Joint Company

Secretary of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, her working experience includes 6 years in a Singapore public

listed company in the areas of accounting, finance and tax matters and 3 years in accounting firms. She holds a Bachelor

degree in Accountancy from Nanyang Technological University and is a member of the Institute of Certified Public

Accountants of Singapore.

Tony Sun Yang is the Vice President, Corporate Finance and Business Development of the Company. Mr Sun joined the

Company in September 1998 and is responsible for the Group’s corporate finance, business development and accounting

and administration functions. He has over 20 years of working experience mainly in marketing, business development and

corporate finance for a few multinational companies. He holds a Bachelor degree in Engineering from Jilin University of

China and Masters in Business Administration (with distinction) from the State University of New York at Buffalo, USA.
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Directors’ Report
Year ended 31 December 2004

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2004.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Wong Sow Voon
Addyson Xue (Appointed on 12 July 2004)
Li Tianfei
Ng Fook Ai, Victor
Zhang Gangzhu (Appointed on 12 July 2004)
Wang Liping (Appointed on 12 July 2004)
Chang Pan, Peter
Meng Xianwu (Appointed on 12 July 2004)
Chen Hailiang (Appointed on 12 July 2004)

Directors’ Interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50
(the “Act”), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held
by their spouses and infant children) in shares and share options in the Company and in related corporations (other
than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows:-

Holdings Holdings

Name of director and corporation at beginning at end

in which interests are held of the year of the year

Wong Sow Voon

Asia Power Corporation Limited

– ordinary shares of US$0.05 each

– interest held 34,742,860 34,742,860

– deemed interests 179,200,000 56,279,986

– options to subscribe for ordinary shares of US$0.05 each under the
Asia Power Share Option Scheme at exercise price of:

– $0.26 exercisable between 9/11/2000 and 8/11/2004 507,170 –

– $0.15 exercisable between 3/1/2002 and 2/1/2006 480,000 480,000

– $0.17 exercisable between 21/12/2002 and 20/12/2006 480,000 480,000

– $0.14 exercisable between 10/12/2003 and 9/12/2007 480,000 480,000

– $0.17 exercisable between 17/12/2004 and 16/12/2008 480,000 480,000

Gereg Holdings Ltd

– ordinary shares of US$1 each

– interest held 15 15

Chang Pan, Peter

Asia Power Corporation Limited

– ordinary shares of US$0.05 each

– interest held 26,057,140 16,477,416

– deemed interests – 23,210,584
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Holdings Holdings

Name of director and corporation at beginning at end

in which interests are held of the year of the year

– options to subscribe for ordinary shares of US$0.05 each under the
Asia Power Share Option Scheme at exercise price of:

– $0.26 exercisable between 9/11/2000 and 8/11/2004 507,170 –

– $0.15 exercisable between 3/1/2002 and 2/1/2006 480,000 480,000

– $0.17 exercisable between 21/12/2002 and 20/12/2006 480,000 480,000

– $0.14 exercisable between 10/12/2003 and 9/12/2007 480,000 480,000

– $0.17 exercisable between 17/12/2004 and 16/12/2008 480,000 480,000

Asia Power Ventures Corporation Ltd

– ordinary shares of US$1 each

– interest held 1 1

Ng Fook Ai, Victor

Asia Power Corporation Limited

– options to subscribe for ordinary shares of US$0.05 each under the
Asia Power Share Option Scheme at exercise price of:

– $0.26 exercisable between 9/11/2000 and 8/11/2004 289,811 –

– $0.15 exercisable between 3/1/2002 and 2/1/2006 186,667 186,667

– $0.17 exercisable between 21/12/2002 and 20/12/2006 160,000 160,000

– $0.14 exercisable between 10/12/2003 and 9/12/2007 160,000 160,000

– $0.17 exercisable between 17/12/2004 and 16/12/2008 160,000 160,000

Li Tianfei

Asia Power Corporation Limited

– options to subscribe for ordinary shares of US$0.05 each under the
Asia Power Share Option Scheme at exercise price of:

– $0.26 exercisable between 9/11/2000 and 8/11/2004 289,811 –

– $0.15 exercisable between 3/1/2002 and 2/1/2011 320,000 320,000

– $0.17 exercisable between 21/12/2002 and 20/12/2011 266,667 266,667

– $0.14 exercisable between 10/12/2003 and 9/12/2012 266,667 266,667

– $0.17 exercisable between 17/12/2004 and 16/12/2013 266,667 266,667

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Wong Sow Voon is deemed to have interests in the shares of the Company and all the
subsidiaries of the Company at the beginning and at the end of the financial year.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares or
share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the year, date of appointment if later,
or at the end of the financial year.

There was no change in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company or in related corporations between the end
of the financial year and 21 January 2005.

Except as disclosed under the “Share Options” section of this report, neither at the end of nor at any time during the
financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Except as disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements, since the end of the last financial period, no director has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation
with the director, or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

Directors’ Report
Year ended 31 December 2004
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Share Options

The Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 19 October 1999. The Scheme is administered by a Committee of Directors comprising
Addyson Xue, Li Tianfei and Chang Pan, Peter.

Other information regarding the Scheme is set out below:

(i) the exercise price of the options is determined by the average of the last dealt prices of the Company’s shares
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST” or “Singapore Exchange”) for the three
consecutive trading days preceding the date of grant of such options;

(ii) the options granted expire after 5 years or 10 years from the dates of grant unless they are cancelled or have
lapsed; and

(iii) options may be exercised one year after the date of grant.

As at the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the Scheme on the unissued ordinary shares of
US$0.05 each of the Company are as follows:-

Options Options Number

outstanding outstanding of option

Date of Exercise at Options at holders at

grant of price per 1 January Options Options cancelled/ 31 December 31 December Exercise

options share 2004 granted exercised lapsed 2004 2004 Period

8/11/1999 $0.26 1,883,773 – – (1,883,773) – – 9/11/2000 –
8/11/2004

8/11/1999 $0.26 543,395 – – – 543,395 4 9/11/2000 –
8/11/2009

2/1/2001 $0.15 1,520,001 – – (186,667) 1,333,334 4 3/1/2002 –
2/1/2006

2/1/2001 $0.15 1,979,002 – (5,010) (427,324) 1,546,668 9 3/1/2002 –
2/1/2011

20/12/2001 $0.17 1,280,000 – – (160,000) 1,120,000 3 21/12/2002 –
20/12/2006

20/12/2001 $0.17 2,480,000 – – (586,666) 1,893,334 13 21/12/2002 –
20/12/2011

9/12/2002 $0.14 1,280,000 – – (160,000) 1,120,000 3 10/12/2003 –
9/12/2007

9/12/2002 $0.14 3,386,665 – (818,333) (454,332) 2,114,000 19 10/12/2003 –
9/12/2012

16/12/2003 $0.17 1,280,000 – – (160,000) 1,120,000 3 17/12/2004 –
16/12/2008

16/12/2003 $0.17 3,519,998 – – (773,332) 2,746,666 19 17/12/2004 –
16/12/2013

19,152,834 – (823,343) (4,792,094) 13,537,397

Directors’ Report
Year ended 31 December 2004
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Except as disclosed above, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under option granted by the
Company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year.

Details of options granted to directors of the Company under the Scheme are as follows:-

Aggregate

Aggregate Aggregate option

Options options granted options cancelled/ Aggregate

granted for since exercised since lapsed since options

financial commencement commencement commencement outstanding

year ended of Scheme to of Scheme to of Scheme to as at

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

Name of participant 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004

Directors of the Company

– Wong Sow Voon* – 2,427,170 – (507,170) 1,920,000

– Chang Pan, Peter – 2,427,170 – (507,170) 1,920,000

– Ng Fook Ai, Victor – 956,478 – (289,811) 666,667

– Li Tianfei – 1,409,812 – (289,811) 1,120,001

Other executives** – 16,779,367 (1,191,010) (7,677,628) 7,910,729

– 23,999,997 (1,191,010) (9,271,590) 13,537,397

* Wong Sow Voon is a controlling shareholder of the Company. The options previously granted to him had been
approved by independent shareholders of the Company at the last annual general meeting.

** This relates to executives who each received less than 5% of the total options available under the Scheme.

Except as disclosed above, during the financial year, there were:

(i) no options granted to controlling shareholders of the Company and their associates under this Scheme;

(ii) no participant who had received 5% or more of the total number of the options available under the Scheme;

(iii) no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries which entitle the holders of the options, by virtue of such
holding, to any rights to participate in any share issue of any other company.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this report comprise three non-executive directors
as follows:

Ng Fook Ai, Victor (Chairman)
Zhang Gangzhu
Meng Xianwu

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Companies Act, the Listing Manual and the
Best Practices Guide of the Singapore Exchange, and the Code of Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year, with further meetings if circumstances require. The principal responsibility
of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in the identification and monitoring of areas of significant
business risks including the following:

(i) the effectiveness of the management of financial business risks and the reliability of management reporting;

(ii) compliance with laws and regulations, particularly those of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Singapore
Exchange Listing Manual;

(iii) the appropriateness of half year and full year announcements and reports;

(iv) the effectiveness and efficiency of external audit; and

(v) interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange).

Directors’ Report
Year ended 31 December 2004
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Specific functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope of work of the external auditors, and receiving
and considering the reports of the external auditors. The Audit Committee also reviews independence of the external
auditors and recommends the appointment of the external auditors.

In addition, the Audit Committee has, in accordance with Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange,
reviewed the requirements for approval and disclosure of interested person transactions, reviewed the internal procedures
set up by the Company to identify and report and where necessary, seek approval for interested person transactions, and
reviewed interested person transactions.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to
the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting of the Company.

The auditors, KPMG, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Wong Sow Voon

Chairman

Li Tianfei

Director

Singapore
15 March 2005

Directors’ Report
Year ended 31 December 2004
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Statement by Directors
Year ended 31 December 2004

In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 66 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2004 and of the results, changes in equity and cash
flows of the Group and of the results and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Wong Sow Voon

Chairman

Li Tianfei

Director

Singapore
15 March 2005
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Report of the Auditors to the Members of
Asia Power Corporation Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Asia Power Corporation Limited for the year ended 31 December
2004 as set out on pages 35 to 66. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s directors. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion:

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet, profit and loss statement and statement
of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2004 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Group and of the results and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
15 March 2005
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Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2004

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Group Company

Note  2004  2003  2004  2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Leasehold prepayments 3 616 650 – –

Property, plant and equipment 4 43,605 44,966 13 144

Subsidiaries 5 – – 16,951 16,951

Associates 6 28,145 26,460 19,435 19,435

Other investments 7 10 10 10 10

72,376 72,086 36,409 36,540

Current assets

Inventories 8 3,748 4,760 – –

Trade and other receivables 9 35,533 29,094 72 55

Amounts due from related parties (non-trade) 10 318 533 318 2,603

Other investments 7 46 46 46 46

Cash and cash equivalents 11 14,220 17,819 8,303 4,272

53,865 52,252 8,739 6,976

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 (30,371) (31,118) (446) (470)

Amounts due to related parties (non-trade) 13 (2,708) (1,091) – –

Interest-bearing liabilities 14 (9,973) (6,199) – –

Current tax payable (964) (298) (43) (21)

(44,016) (38,706) (489) (491)

Net current assets 9,849 13,546 8,250 6,485

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 14 (1,985) (8,200) – –

Deferred tax liabilities 15 (623) (552) (57) (42)

(2,608) (8,752) (57) (42)

Minority interests (21,434) (21,921) – –

Net assets 58,183 54,959 44,602 42,983

Share capital 16 26,704 26,635 26,704 26,635

Reserves 17 31,479 28,324 17,898 16,348

Shareholders’ equity 58,183 54,959 44,602 42,983
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Profit and Loss Accounts
Year ended 31 December 2004

Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

Note 31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue 18 85,631 39,573 4,398 1,194

Cost of sales (73,596) (37,262) – –

Gross profit 12,035 2,311 4,398 1,194

Other operating income 152 305 51 34

Administrative expenses (5,913) (3,258) (1,720) (958)

Other operating expenses (931) (228) (385) (1,383)

Profit/(Loss) from operations 19 5,343 (870) 2,344 (1,113)

Finance costs 21 (482) (340) – –

4,861 (1,210) 2,344 (1,113)

Share of profit of associates 4,999 2,603 – –

Profit/(Loss) from ordinary activities

before taxation 9,860 1,393 2,344 (1,113)

Income tax expense 22 (1,801) (657) (38) (10)

Profit/(Loss) from ordinary activities

after taxation 8,059 736 2,306 (1,123)

Minority interests (2,608) 155 – –

Net profit/(loss) for the year/period 5,451 891 2,306 (1,123)

Earnings per share (cents)

Basic and diluted 23 1.70 0.28

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2004
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2004

Share Share Accumulated

capital premium profit Total

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

At 1 July 2003 26,602 6,079 12,971 45,652

Issue of shares on exercise of share options 33 23 – 56

Loss for the period – – (1,123) (1,123)

Dividend paid in respect of year ended 30 June 2003 24 – – (1,602) (1,602)

At 31 December 2003 26,635 6,102 10,246 42,983

At 1 January 2004 26,635 6,102 10,246 42,983

Issue of shares on exercise of share options 69 46 – 115

Profit for the year – – 2,306 2,306

Dividend paid in respect of period ended
31 December 2003 24 – – (802) (802)

At 31 December 2004 26,704 6,148 11,750 44,602

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2004

Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to

31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000

Operating activities

Profit from ordinary activities before taxation 9,860 1,393

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of leasehold prepayments 14 7

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,187 2,059

Interest income (146) (74)

Interest expense 482 340

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (15)

Share of profit of associates (4,999) (2,603)

Write down of short-term quoted equity securities to market value reversed – (5)

Operating profit before working capital changes 9,398 1,102

Changes in working capital:

Inventories 861 (9)

Trade and other receivables (7,489) 12,985

Trade and other payables 221 7,379

Cash generated from operations 2,991 21,457

Income taxes paid (1,064) (1,386)

Cash flows from operating activities 1,927 20,071

Investing activities

Interest received 146 74

Acquisition of associates – (3,916)

Dividends received from associates 1,850 2,126

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,226) (3,780)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 90 30

Cash flows from investing activities (2,140) (5,466)

Financing activities

Interest paid (482) (340)

Dividends paid to minority shareholders (2,024) (1,075)

Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company (802) (1,602)

Repayment from/(to) related parties 1,652 (968)

Repayment of bank loans (1,985) (8,200)

Proceeds from issue of shares 115 56

Cash flows from financing activities (3,526) (12,129)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,739) 2,476

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year/period 17,819 15,525

Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currency 140 (182)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year/period (note 11) 14,220 17,819

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2004

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 15 March 2005.

1 Domicile and Activities

Asia Power Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and has its
registered office at 5 Shenton Way, #12-08 UIC Building, Singapore 068808.

The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries (referred to as the “Group”) and
the Group’s investments in associates.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”)
including related Interpretations promulgated by the Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance.

The historical cost basis is used and amounts are expressed in thousands of Singapore dollars, unless stated
otherwise.

2.2 Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power,
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of a company so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at cost less impairment losses. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases.

Associates

Associates are companies in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and
operating policies.

Investments in associates are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at cost, less impairment losses. In the Group’s
financial statements, they are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The Group’s investment in
associates includes goodwill (net of accumulated amortisation) on acquisition. When the Group’s share of losses
exceeds the carrying amount of the associate, the carrying amount is fully written down and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred obligations in respect of the associate.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in
making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to
common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

2.3 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies, except for foreign currency assets and liabilities hedged by
forward exchange contracts, are translated into Singapore dollars at rates of exchange approximate to those
ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency assets and liabilities hedged by forward exchange contracts
are translated into Singapore dollars at the contracted forward exchange rates. Transactions in foreign currencies
are translated at rates ruling on transaction dates. Translation differences are included in the profit and loss
account, except:
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.3 Foreign currencies (cont’d)

Foreign currency transactions (cont’d)

• Where foreign currency loans provide an effective hedge against the net investment in foreign subsidiaries
and associates, exchange differences arising on the loans are recognised directly in equity until disposal
of the investment.

• Where monetary items in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign subsidiaries
and associates, exchange differences arising on such monetary items are recognised directly in equity
until disposal of the investment.

Foreign entities

The assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into Singapore dollars at the rates of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date. The results of foreign entities are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign entities are stated at exchange
rates ruling on transaction dates. Exchange differences arising on translation are recognised directly in equity.
On disposal, the accumulated translation differences are recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.4 Leasehold prepayments

Leases of land under which the lessor has not transferred all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified
as operating leases.

Leasehold prepayments for land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to
the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the originally
assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the enterprises. All other subsequent
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Disposals

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised
in the profit and loss account on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis so as to write off items of property, plant and equipment to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Useful lives Residual value as a percentage of cost

Buildings : 12 to 25 years 3%

Dam and other structures : 25 to 50 years 0 to 3%

Generators and machinery : 12 to 25 years 3%

Office equipment : 3 to 5 years 0 to 3%

Computers : 1 to 5 years 0 to 3%

Motor vehicles : 5 years 0 to 3%

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.6 Construction in progress

Construction in progress is stated at cost, which comprises construction expenditure, including interest costs
on related borrowed funds to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs during the
construction period, and the cost of related equipment. No depreciation is provided on construction in progress.

Upon completion and commissioning for operation, the costs will be transferred to property, plant and equipment
and depreciation will be provided at the appropriate rates specified in note 2.5 above. A generator is considered to
be completed and commissioned when the trial run period ends.

2.7 Negative goodwill on consolidation

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition represents the excess of the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired over the cost of acquisition. Negative goodwill is presented as a deduction from assets in the same
balance sheet classification as goodwill.

To the extent that negative goodwill relates to an expectation of future losses and expenses that is identified in the
plan of acquisition and can be measured reliably, but which have not yet been recognised, it is recognised in the
profit and loss account when the future losses and expenses are recognised. Any remaining negative goodwill, but
not exceeding the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired, is recognised in the profit and loss account over
the weighted average useful life of those assets that are depreciable or amortisable. Negative goodwill in excess of
the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.

Negative goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries that occurred prior to 1 January 2001 was taken directly to reserves
and has not been retroactively capitalised and amortised.

2.8 Financial assets

Equity securities which are not held for trading are classified as non-current assets and are stated at cost less
allowances for diminution in value, which in the opinion of the directors, are other than temporary.

Quoted equity securities which are held for trading are classified as current assets and are stated at market value on
a portfolio basis. Any increases or decreases in carrying amount are included in the profit and loss account.

Profits or losses on disposal of financial assets are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the financial assets and are accounted for in the profit and loss account as they arise.

2.9 Inventories

Inventories comprising coal, fuel oil, materials and spare parts for consumption by the power plants, are stated
at cost, less allowance for obsolescence. Cost includes cost of purchases and, where applicable, transportation
cost and handling fee. The cost of coal and fuel oil is calculated on the weighted average basis. The cost of
materials and spare parts is calculated on the first-in first-out basis.

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful receivables.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net
of bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and which form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.12 Liabilities and interest-bearing liabilities

Trade and other payables and interest-bearing liabilities are recognised at cost.

2.13 Employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution plans such as social security insurance and housing reserve fund schemes,
which are administered by the local municipal or city government in the People’s Republic of China, are recognised
as an expense in the profit and loss account as incurred.

2.14 Share options

No compensation cost or obligation is recognised when share options are issued under employee incentive
programmes. When options are exercised, equity is increased by the amount of the proceeds received.

2.15 Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. All impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss account.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised. All reversals of impairment are recognised in the profit and loss account.

2.16 Share capital

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

2.17 Revenue recognition

Revenue earned from supply of electricity, heat and steam is recognised when they are supplied to customers
based on basic tariffs. Revenue from additional tariffs which is payable by the State Power Bureau, which can
only be determined reliably at the end of each calendar year, is recognised in the profit and loss account when
determined.

Dividend income from subsidiaries and associates is recognised on the date when the right to receive payment is
established.

2.18 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Temporary differences are
not recognised for goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.18 Deferred tax (cont’d)

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability
to pay the related dividend.

2.19 Operating leases

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payment made under the leases are recognised
in the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are
recognised in the profit and loss account as an integral part of the total lease payments made.

2.20 Finance costs

Interest expense and similar charges are expensed in the profit and loss account in the period in which they
are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for
its intended use or sale.

The interest component of finance lease payments is recognised in the profit and loss account using the effective
interest rate method.

2.21 Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The primary
format, business segment, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items mainly comprise interest-bearing liabilities, finance costs, taxation
and corporate expenses.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected
to be used for more than one period.

Business segments

The Group comprises the following main business segments:-

Power plant operations : Owning, managing and operating power plants to generate and sell power,
heat and steam.

Power-related technology : Design, manufacture and assembly of computerised automation systems
which are used for the regulation of electricity flow and protection of
power grids

Investment holding and others : Holding of long-term investments and provision of power related business
consultancy and management services

Geographical segments

The Group operates predominantly in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
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3 Leasehold Prepayments

Group

Note 2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Cost

At 1 January 2004/1 July 2003 735 760

Translation difference on consolidation (23) (25)

At 31 December 712 735

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2004/1 July 2003 85 80

Charge for the year 19 14 7

Translation difference on consolidation (3) (2)

At 31 December 96 85

Carrying amount

At 31 December 616 650

Leasehold prepayments with a carrying amount of $616,000 (31/12/2003: $650,000) are pledged as security for
bank loans.

4 Property, Plant and Equipment
Dam and Generators

other and Office Motor

Buildings structures machinery equipment Computers vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2004 4,126 12,715 43,649 884 903 1,800 64,077

Additions 138 – 3,948 25 111 4 4,226

Disposals – – – – (35) (300) (335)

Translation differences on consolidation (131) (403) (1,383) (25) (27) (47) (2,016)

At 31 December 2004 4,133 12,312 46,214 884 952 1,457 65,952

Accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses

At 1 January 2004 1,260 1,627 13,812 484 808 1,120 19,111

Depreciation charge for the year 237 279 3,256 88 114 213 4,187

Disposals – – – – (35) (210) (245)

Translation differences on consolidation (47) (42) (526) (15) (26) (50) (706)

At 31 December 2004 1,450 1,864 16,542 557 861 1,073 22,347

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2004 2,683 10,448 29,672 327 91 384 43,605

At 31 December 2003 2,866 11,088 29,837 400 95 680 44,966
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4 Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

Office Motor

equipment Computers vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2004 98 62 300 460

Additions – 18 – 18

Disposals – (35) (300) (335)

At 31 December 2004 98 45 – 143

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2004 79 62 175 316

Depreciation charge for the year 11 13 35 59

Disposals – (35) (210) (245)

At 31 December 2004 90 40 – 130

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2004 8 5 – 13

At 31 December 2003 19 – 125 144

Included in the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are the following:

Group

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment pledged as security for bank loans 13,754 14,687

5 Subsidiaries

Company

Note 2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 17,300 17,300

Impairment losses 19 (349) (349)

16,951 16,951
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5 Subsidiaries (cont’d)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Effective

incorporation equity held

Name of subsidiary Principal activities and business by the Group

2004 2003

% %

1 Heilongjiang Asiapower Owning, managing and operating PRC 51 51
Xinbao Heating & a coal-fired power plant to generate
Power Co., Ltd and sell electric power, heat and

steam

2 Asia Power (Neijiang) Owning, managing and operating a PRC 60 60
Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd. hydro-power plant

3 Asia Power (Shanghai) Provision of power related business PRC 100 100
Management Consulting consultancy and management services
Co., Ltd

1 The statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were audited by Heilongjiang Zhongqi Certified Public

Accountants Company Limited, People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and audited by other member firms of KPMG International

for consolidation purposes.

2 The statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were audited by Sichuan Zhongfang Accountant’s

Office, PRC and audited by other member firms of KPMG International for consolidation purposes.

3 The statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were audited by Shanghai Shenzhou Certified Public

Accountants Company Limited, PRC and audited by KPMG Singapore for consolidation purposes.

6 Associates

Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost – – 19,435 19,435

Share of net assets 22,672 20,413 – –

Goodwill 5,473 6,047 – –

28,145 26,460 19,435 19,435

Movements in goodwill during the year/period are
as follows:

At 1 January 2004/1 July 2003 6,047 6,299 – –

Additions during the year/period – 35 – –

Amortisation charge for the year/period (574) (287) –

At 31 December 5,473 6,047 – –
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6 Associates (cont’d)

The amortisation of goodwill arising on the acquisition of associates is included in the share of results before tax of
associates.

Details of the associates are as follows:

Place of Effective

incorporation equity held

Name of subsidiary Principal activities and business by the Group

2004 2003

% %

1 Changzhou Suyuan Electric Owning, managing and operation of PRC 25 25
Power Co., Ltd diesel fuel-fired power plants

2 Shenzhen NARI Designing, manufacturing and PRC 35 35
Technologies  Co., Ltd assembly of computerised

automation systems, including
hardware and software

3 Sichuan Anning River Developing, managing and operating PRC 18 18
Energy Development hydro-power stations
Co., Ltd *

4 Shanghai Witlong Manufacturing and distribution of PRC 33.33 33.33
Electric Co., Ltd power automation systems and

auxiliary equipment and provision
of engineering consultation services

5 Changzhou Huayuan Developing, managing and operating PRC 25 25
Electric Power Co., Ltd a peak-load, combined-cycle power

plant

1 The statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were audited by Jiangsu Gongzheng Certified Public

Accountants, PRC and audited by other member firms of KPMG International for consolidation purposes.

2 The statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were audited by Shenzhen Wan Shang Certified Public

Accountants, PRC and audited by KPMG Singapore for consolidation purposes.

3 The statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were audited by Liangshan Jincheng Certified Public

Accountants Company Limited, PRC and audited by other member firms of KPMG International for consolidation purposes.

4 The statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were audited by Shanghai Shang Rui Certified Public

Accountants Co., Ltd, PRC and audited by KPMG Singapore for consolidation purposes.

5 The statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were audited by Jiangsu Gongzheng Certified Public

Accountants, PRC and audited by other member firms of KPMG International for consolidation purposes.

* Sichuan Anning River Energy Development Co., Ltd. is an associate of Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd. which has

an equity interest of 30% in the associate. The other associates are directly held by the Company.
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7 Other Investments
Group and Company

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Non-current

Club memberships, at cost 10 10

Current

Quoted equity investments, at net realisable value 46 46

Market value of quoted equity shares 46 46

8 Inventories
Group

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Coal 2,678 3,488

Fuel oil 206 282

Materials and spare parts 955 1,084

3,839 4,854

Allowance for inventory obsolescence (91) (94)

3,748 4,760

9 Trade and Other Receivables
Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and notes receivables 34,377 27,292 – –

Allowance for doubtful receivables (98) (77) – –

Net receivables 34,279 27,215 – –

Recoverables from third parties 695 718 – –

Allowance for doubtful receivables (695) – – –

Net recoverables – 718 – –

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 1,254 1,161 72 55

35,533 29,094 72 55

10 Amounts due from Related Parties (Non-trade)
Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Subsidiaries – – 895 2,832

Allowance for doubtful receivables – – (895) (762)

– – – 2,070

Associates 318 533 318 533

318 533 318 2,603

Amounts due from related parties are unsecured and interest-free, and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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11 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed deposits with banks 7,689 3,869 7,689 3,864

Cash in hand 8 4 1 –

Cash at bank 6,523 13,946 613 408

14,220 17,819 8,303 4,272

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

% % % %

Cash and cash equivalents 0.18 – 1.81 0.30 – 0.74 0.18 – 1.81 0.30 – 0.74

Interest rates are repriced within one year.

12 Trade and Other Payables

Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 22,820 16,256 – –

Accrued operating expenses 3,005 4,285 423 447

Payable to contractors 556 2,529 – –

VAT payable 2,189 5,331 – –

Customers deposits received – 232 – –

Other payables 1,801 2,485 23 23

30,371 31,118 446 470

13 Amounts due to Related Parties (Non-trade)

Group

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Minority shareholders of subsidiaries

– loans – 923

– others 2,708 168

2,708 1,091

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured and interest-free, and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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14 Interest-Bearing Liabilities
Group

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Secured

(i) Bank loans of Rmb5,500,000, Rmb15,000,000, Rmb9,500,000 and
Rmb10,000,000 with final maturities on 28 March 2005, 27 April 2005, 9 May
2005 and 4 January 2006 respectively (2003: Rmb5,500,000, Rmb15,000,000,
Rmb9,500,000 and Rmb10,000,000). Interest was charged at a fixed rate of
5.94% (2003: 5.49%) per annum from 1 January 2004 to 30 November 2004.
Interest is charged at a fixed rate of 6.12% per annum from 1 December
2004 onwards. 7,940 8,200

Unsecured

(ii) Bank loan of Rmb10,000,000 (2003: Rmb10,000,000) has been repaid on
16 April 2004. Interest was charged at a fixed rate of 6.04% (2003: 6.04%) per
annum. – 2,050

(iii) Bank loan of Rmb20,000,000 (2003: Rmb20,000,000) with final maturity on
11 March 2005. Interest is charged at a fixed rate of 5.31% (2003: 5.31%) per
annum. 3,970 4,100

(iv) Loan of Rmb240,000 (2003: Rmb240,000) from Qiqihaer Environment Protection
Bureau (“Qiqihaer Environment”) was repayable on 11 October 2002. Subsequent
to 11 October 2003, the loan is repayable on demand to Qiqihaer Environment.
Interest is charged at a fixed rate of 4.75% (2003: 4.75%) per annum. 48 49

11,958 14,399

Group

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Repayable:

– Within one year 9,973 6,199

– After one year but within five years 1,985 8,200

11,958 14,399

The bank loans aggregating $7,940,000 (Rmb40,000,000) (2003: $8,200,000 (Rmb40,000,000)) are secured on the
following assets with net carrying values of:

Group

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Leasehold prepayments 616 650

Buildings 164 178

Dam and other structures 10,448 11,088

Generators and machinery 3,142 3,421

14,370 15,337
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14 Interest-Bearing Liabilities (cont’d)

Effective interest rates and repricing analysis

Effective

interest Within 1 to 5 After

rate 1 year years 5 years Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2004

Interest-bearing loans

– secured 5.9 – 6.1 5,955 1,985 – 7,940

– unsecured 4.8 – 5.3 4,018 – – 4,018

9,973 1,985 – 11,958

2003

Interest-bearing loans

– secured 5.5 – 8,200 – 8,200

– unsecured 4.8 – 6.0 6,199 – – 6,199

6,199 8,200 – 14,399

15 Deferred Tax Liabilities

Movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:

Charged to

profit and

At   loss account Exchange At

1/1/2004 (note 22) differences 31/12/2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Property, plant and equipment 464 – – 464

Others 88 88 (17) 159

Deferred tax liabilities 552 88 (17) 623

Company

Deferred tax liabilities – others 42 15 – 57

16 Share Capital – Company

Number of Number of

shares 2004 2004 shares 2003 2003

US$ $ US$ $

Authorised:

560,000,000 ordinary
shares of US$0.05 each 560,000,000 28,000,000 46,872,000 560,000,000 28,000,000 46,872,000

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning of the
year/period 320,367,667 16,018,383 26,634,607 320,000,000 16,000,000 26,602,309

Issued during the
year/period on exercise
of share options 823,343 41,168 69,315 367,667 18,383 32,298

At end of the year/period 321,191,010 16,059,551 26,703,922 320,367,667 16,018,383 26,634,607
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16 Share Capital – Company (cont’d)

Pursuant to the Asia Power Share Option Scheme, an additional 818,333 and 5,010 new fully-paid ordinary shares
of US$0.05 each were issued for cash at $0.14 and $0.15 per share respectively (2003: 367,667 new fully-paid
ordinary shares of US$0.05 each were issued for cash at $0.15 per share) by the Company during the financial year.

17 Reserves

Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Share premium 6,148 6,102 6,148 6,102

Statutory reserve 2,696 2,181 – –

Enterprise development reserve 1,412 1,085 – –

Capital reserve 2,015 2,015 – –

Currency translation reserve (1,929) (389) – –

Accumulated profits 21,137 17,330 11,750 10,246

31,479 28,324 17,898 16,348

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by Sections 69 and 70(4) of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50.

Statutory reserve

The subsidiaries and associates follow the accounting principles and relevant financial regulations of the PRC
(“PRC GAAP”) applicable to Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises in the preparation of the accounting
records and statutory financial statements.

Appropriation to the statutory reserve by the Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise is determined at the discretion
of the board of directors based on the profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP for each year.

The profit arrived at must be set-off against any accumulated losses sustained by the subsidiaries and associates in
prior years, before allocation is made to the statutory reserve. Appropriation to the statutory reserve must be made
before distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until the statutory reserve reaches
50% of the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends.

Enterprise development reserve

The Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise is required to set aside an enterprise development reserve for
future development projects in accordance with its articles of association. Appropriation to the enterprise
development reserve is determined at the discretion of the board of directors based on profit arrived at in
accordance with PRC GAAP for each year.

The profit arrived at must be set-off against any accumulated losses sustained by the subsidiaries and associates in
prior years, before allocation is made to the enterprise development reserve. Appropriation to the enterprise
development reserve must be made before distribution of dividends to shareholders. This enterprise development
reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends.

Capital reserve

This comprises capital reserve arising on consolidation of a subsidiary.

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve account comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations that are not integral to the operation of the Company.
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18 Revenue

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during the year/period is as follows:
Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sale of electricity 62,818 29,343 – –

Sale of heat and steam 22,811 10,229 – –

Dividend income from:

– subsidiaries – – 2,733 –

– associates – – 1,663 1,193

– quoted equity investments 2 1 2 1

85,631 39,573 4,398 1,194

19 Profit/(Loss) from Operations

The following items have been included in arriving at profit/(loss)from operations:

Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

Note  31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amortisation of leasehold
prepayments 3 14 7 – –

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 4 4,187 2,059 59 37

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment – (15) – –

Impairment loss made on
investment in subsidiary 5 – – – 349

Interest income (146) (74) (51) (22)

Loss on foreign exchange 154 227 252 272

Non-audit fees paid to auditors
of the Company 9 3 9 3

Operating lease expenses 2,817 2,042 124 59

Write down of short-term
quoted equity securities to
market value reversed – (5) – (5)

Staff costs 18,137 10,047 922 467

Contributions to defined
contribution plan included in
staff costs 1,271 618 60 42

Decrease in liability for short-term
accumulating compensated
absences included in staff costs (20) (4) (20) (4)
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19 Profit/(Loss) from Operations (cont’d)

Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

 31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

Number of employees as at
31 December 1,469 1,491 6 10

Included in staff costs is an amount of $635,000 (2003: $343,000) relating to remuneration paid to key management
personnel.

20 Directors’ Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration is recognised in the following line items in the profit and loss account:

Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

 31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Included in staff costs

– directors’ remuneration 390 221 320 191

Included in administrative expenses

– directors’ fees 113 44 113 44

503 265 433 235

21 Finance Costs

Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

 31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest paid and payable to banks 482 340 – –

22 Income Tax Expense

Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

Note  31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current tax expense

Current year/period

– Singapore 23 – 23 –

– Overseas 1,216 216 – 1

Balance brought forward 1,239 216 23 1
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22 Income Tax Expense (cont’d)

Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

Note  31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance carried forward 1,239 216 23 1

Overprovided in prior year

– Overseas (432) (24) – –

807 192 23 1

Deferred tax expense

Current year/period 15 88 63 15 –

Underprovided in prior year – 9 – 9

88 72 15 9

Share of taxation of associates 906 393 – –

Income tax expense 1,801 657 38 10

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to

31/12/2004 31/12/2003

% $’000 % $’000

Group

Profit before taxation 9,860 1,393

Income tax using PRC tax rates 33.0 3,254 33.0 460

Effect of different tax rate in Singapore (3.1) (304) 8.9 123

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8.3 820 25.4 354

Income not subject to tax (0.9) (87) (0.1) (2)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets (0.2) (24) (1.2) (16)

(Over)/Underprovided in prior year

– The Company – – 0.6 9

– Subsidiaries (5.0) (493) (1.8) (24)

– Associates – – 5.4 75

Tax concessions (13.8) (1,365) (23.1) (324)

Others – – 0.1 2

18.3 1,801 47.2 657
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22 Income Tax Expense (cont’d)

Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to

31/12/2004 31/12/2003

% $’000 % $’000

Company

Profit/(Loss) before taxation 2,344 (1,113)

Income tax using Singapore tax rates 20.0 469 (22.0) (245)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 15.2 357 45.8 510

Income not subject to tax (0.4) (10) (0.2) (2)

Tax sparing relief (33.2) (778) (23.6) (263)

Underprovided in prior year – – 0.8 9

Others – – 0.1 1

1.6 38 0.9 10

23 Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders of $5,451,000
(2003: $891,000) and the weighted average number of 320,890,696 (2003: 320,333,999) ordinary shares.

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders of $5,451,000
(2003: $891,000) and the weighted average number of 321,149,355 (2003: 321,346,234) ordinary shares after
adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Reconciliations

The unissued ordinary shares under the Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) are as follows:

2004 2003

Unissued ordinary shares Exercise price Unissued ordinary shares Exercise price

($) ($)

543,395 0.26 2,427,168 0.26

2,880,002 0.15 3,499,003 0.15

6,880,000 0.17 8,559,998 0.17

3,234,000 0.14 4,666,665 0.14

13,537,397 19,152,834
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23 Earnings Per Share (cont’d)

The average fair value of one ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2004 has been $0.15 (31 December
2003: $0.18) per share. The weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the unissued ordinary shares
under the Scheme is calculated as follows:

2004 2003

Number Number

of shares of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in calculating basic earnings per share 320,890,696 320,333,999

Weighted average number of unissued ordinary
shares under share option 7,102,445 8,461,558

Number of shares that would have been issued
at fair value (6,843,786) (7,449,323)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in calculating diluted earnings per share 321,149,355 321,346,234

24 Dividends

Group and Company

Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to

31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000

Final tax exempt dividend of $0.0025 (2003: $0.005) per share paid
in respect of period ended 31 December 2003 (2003: Year ended
30 June 2003) 802 1,602

After the balance sheet date, the Directors proposed the following dividends. The dividend has not been provided
for.

Group and Company

Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to

31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000

Proposed final tax exempt dividend of $0.005
(2003: $0.0025) per share of US$0.05 each on
351,191,010 (2003: 320,367,667) shares 1,756 802

Proposed special tax exempt dividend of $0.002
(2003: Nil) per share of US$0.05 each on
351,191,010 (2003: 320,367,667) shares 702 –

2,458 802
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25 Significant Related Party Transactions

During the financial year, in addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
there were the following significant related party transactions carried out in the normal course of business on terms
agreed between the parties:

Associates

Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen NARI”)

Group and Company

Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to

31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$’000 $’000

Sales of computerised automation systems to Nanjing Automation
Research Institute (“Nanjing NARI”), a shareholder of Shenzhen NARI,
and its related parties – 4,991

Purchases from Nanjing NARI 767 1,126

Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd (“Changzhou Suyuan”)

On 18 December 2004, Changzhou Suyuan entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with
Changzhou Changxin Electric Company Limited (Changxin), a company in which a director, Chang Pan, Peter, has an
indirect 48% interest. Under the Agreement, Changzhou Suyuan acquired the land use rights and the buildings
from Changxin at an amount of Rmb3,599,000 which was arrived at based on the expected rental receivables from
the leasing of land use rights and buildings.

Directors

Share option scheme

Directors also participate in the Asia Power Share Option Scheme. There were no share options granted to the
directors of the Company during the current year (31/12/2003: 1,546,667). The share options were granted on the
same terms and conditions as those offered to other employees of the Company as described in note 26. Since
commencement of the Scheme to 31 December 2004, 7,220,630 share options have been granted to the directors
of the Company.

26 Employee Benefits

Asia Power Share Option Scheme

Equity compensation benefits

The Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members
at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 19 October 1999. The Scheme is administered by a Committee of
Directors comprising Addyson Xue, Li Tianfei and Chang Pan, Peter.

Other information regarding the Scheme is set out below:

(i) the exercise price of the options is determined by the average of the last dealt prices of the Company’s shares
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST) for the three consecutive trading days preceding
the date of grant of such options;

(ii) the options granted expire after 5 years or 10 years from the dates of grant unless they are cancelled or have
lapsed; and

(iii) options may be exercised one year after the date of grant.
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26 Employee Benefits (cont’d)

As at the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the Scheme on the unissued ordinary shares
of US$0.05 each of the Company are as follows:

Number of Market

options  price

outstanding Options Number of of shares

Date Exercise 1 January Options Options cancelled/ options at date of Exercise

granted price 2004 granted exercised lapsed outstanding options Period

8/11/1999 $0.26 1,883,773 – – (1,883,773) – $0.335 9/11/2000 –
8/11/2004

8/11/1999 $0.26 543,395 – – – 543,395 $0.335 9/11/2000 –
8/11/2009

2/1/2001 $0.15 1,520,001 – – (186,667) 1,333,334 $0.145 3/1/2002 –
2/1/2006

2/1/2001 $0.15 1,979,002 – (5,010) (427,324) 1,546,668 $0.145 3/1/2002 –
2/1/2011

20/12/2001 $0.17 1,280,000 – – (160,000) 1,120,000 $0.170 21/12/2002
20/12/2006

20/12/2001 $0.17 2,480,000 – – (586,666) 1,893,334 $0.170 21/12/2002 –
20/12/2011

9/12/2002 $0.14 1,280,000 – – (160,000) 1,120,000 $0.145 10/12/2003 –
9/12/2007

9/12/2002 $0.14 3,386,665 – (818,333) (454,332) 2,114,000 $0.145 10/12/2003 –
9/12/2012

16/12/2003 $0.17 1,280,000 – – (160,000) 1,120,000 $0.175 17/12/2004 –
16/12/2008

16/12/2003 $0.17 3,519,998 – – (773,332) 2,746,666 $0.175 17/12/2004 –
16/12/2013

19,152,834 – (823,343) (4,792,094) 13,537,397

Subsequent to the financial year end, there were no share options exercised by employees.

27 Financial Instruments

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Exposure to credit, interest rate and currency risks arise in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group’s overall business strategies, its tolerance of risks and its general risk management philosophy are
determined by management in accordance with prevailing economic and operating conditions.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a counterparty to settle its
financial and contractual obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due.

The Group has established credit limits for customers and monitors their balances. Cash and fixed deposits are
placed with banks and financial institutions which are regulated.

At the balance sheet date, there is no significant concentration of credit risk except for the trade balances due from
a major customer amounting to $12,269,000 (Rmb61,809,000) (2003: $11,593,000 (Rmb56,551,000)).
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27 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Business risk

During the year ended 31 December 2004, purchases of coals from coal suppliers, amounted to $43,639,388
(Rmb213,918,567) [(2003: $20,196,081 (Rmb96,539,582)] which accounted for approximately 59% (2003: 54%)
of the Group’s total cost of sales. As at 31 December 2004, trade payable to these coal suppliers amounted to
$14,484,330 (Rmb72,968,916) [(2003: $7,819,118 (Rmb38,142,037)]. The purchase agreements with these suppliers
were negotiated on a case-by-case basis. Although the Group believes that it maintains good relationships with
its suppliers, there can be no assurance that these suppliers will continue to sell to the Group on normal
commercial terms as and when needed. In the event that the suppliers cease to sell to the Group or when
there are significant fluctuations in coal prices, the Group’s turnover and profitability will be adversely affected.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s fixed deposits with banks and
debt obligations. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk as a result of its operations in the PRC and fixed deposits in foreign
currencies. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the US Dollar and Chinese Renminbi.

Fair value

(i) Investment in quoted equity shares

The fair values of publicly traded shares which were arrived at based on quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date, are set out in Note 7 to the financial statements.

(ii) Bank loans

The carrying amount of bank loans approximate its fair value based on the borrowing rates currently
available for bank loans with similar terms and maturity.

Except for the above, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities reported in the balance sheets of the
Group and the Company approximate their fair values at the balance sheet date.

28 Commitments
Group

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Capital Commitments

Contracted but not provided for:

– Property, plant and equipment – 10

– Investments in associates – 8,670

– 8,680



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2004

62

28 Commitments (cont’d)

Operating Lease Commitments

The Group and the Company have the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases:

Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Payable as follows:

– within 1 year 2,658 151 61 119

– within 2 to 5 years 2,679 63 18 63

– after 5 years – – – –

5,337 214 79 182

The Group leases auxiliary equipment for power generating purposes under a non-cancellable operating lease
arrangement. The lease runs for a period from 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2006. Lease payments are fixed at
Rmb13,000,000 per annum.

The Group leases office equipment and premises for office purposes under operating leases. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 2 to 5 years, with options to renew the leases after that period.

None of the above leases include contingent rentals.

29 Economic Dependency

The normal trading activities of the power plant operations depend to a significant extent on the supply of electricity
to the following major provincial power bureaus or corporations:

(i) Heilongjiang Electric Power Corporation;

(ii) Jiangsu Electric Power Corporation; and

(iii) Neijiang Electric Power Industry Bureau.
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30 Segmental Information

Business Segment

Power- Investment

Power plant related holding and Consolidated

operations technology others Eliminations total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue and expenses

Year ended 31/12/2004

Total revenue from external
customers 85,629 – 4,398 (4,396) 85,631

Profit from operations before
depreciation and amortisation
charges 11,797 – 2,143 (4,396) 9,544

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment (4,107) – (80) – (4,187)

Amortisation of leasehold
prepayments (14) – – – (14)

Profit from operations after
depreciation and
amortisation charges 7,676 – 2,063 (4,396) 5,343

Finance costs (482)

4,861

Share of results of associates 2,890 2,109 – – 4,999

Profit from ordinary activities
before taxation 9,860

Income tax expense (1,801)

Profit from ordinary activities
after taxation 8,059

Minority interests (2,608)

Net profit for the year 5,451
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30 Segmental Information (cont’d)

Business Segment

Power- Investment

Power plant related holding and Consolidated

operations technology others Eliminations total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue and expenses

Period from 1/7/2003 to

31/12/2003

Total revenue from external
customers 39,572 – 1,194 (1,193) 39,573

Profit from operations before
depreciation and amortisation
charges 2,595 – (1,316) (83) 1,196

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment (2,009) – (50) – (2,059)

Amortisation of leasehold
prepayments (7) – – – (7)

Profit from operations after
depreciation and amortisation
charges 579 – (1,366) (83) (870)

Finance costs (340)

(1,210)

Share of results of associates 1,125 1,478 – – 2,603

Profit from ordinary activities
before taxation 1,393

Income tax expense (657)

Profit from ordinary activities
after taxation 736

Minority interests 155

Net profit for the period 891
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30 Segmental Information (cont’d)

Business Segment

Power- Investment

Power plant related holding and Consolidated

operations technology others Eliminations total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities

2004

Segment assets 89,133 – 25,914 (16,951) 98,096

Interests in associates 13,962 14,183 – – 28,145

Total assets 103,095 14,183 25,914 (16,951) 126,241

Segment liabilities 32,630 – 1,344 (895) 33,079

Unallocated liabilities

– borrowings 11,958

– tax 1,587

Total liabilities 46,624

Capital expenditure 4,208 – 18 – 4,226

Assets and liabilities

2003

Segment assets 92,259 – 24,641 (19,022) 97,878

Interests in associates 13,536 12,924 – – 26,460

Total assets 105,795 12,924 24,641 (19,022) 124,338

Segment liabilities 33,807 – 1,234 (2,832) 32,209

Unallocated liabilities

– borrowings 14,399

– tax 850

Total liabilities 47,458

Capital expenditure 3,780 – – – 3,780

31 Contingent Liabilities

Group

2004 2003

$’000 $’000

Guarantees

Guarantees given to secure banking facilities granted to associates 11,553 7,380



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2004

66

32 Subsequent Events

On 25 January 2005, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Global Financial Holdings Ltd (Global
Financial), a substantial shareholder of the Company, whereby Global Financial agreed to subscribe for 30,000,000
new ordinary shares of par value US$0.05 each in the Company (the “New Shares”) at a subscription price of
$0.155 per share (the “Subscription”). The New Shares rank pari passu in all respects with all the existing shares.

The net proceeds from the Subscription amounting to approximately $4.48 million will be used to partially finance
the investment in a joint venture established for the purpose of constructing and developing a new wind power
plant in the PRC.

On the same date, Global Financial entered into a placement agreement with Westcomb Securities Pte Ltd
(“Westcomb”) whereby Westcomb shall purchase, or procure the purchase of 30,000,000 existing ordinary share
of par value US$0.05 each at a sale price of $0.155 per share.

On 7 February 2005, upon completion of the Subscription and the placement, the shareholding of Global Financial
in the issued share capital of the Company was reduced from 26.29% to 24.05%.

33 Comparatives

The comparative figures relate to the financial statements for the period from 1 July 2003 to 31 December 2003 and
the current year figures relate to the year ended 31 December 2004.
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Supplementary Information
(SGX-ST Listing Manual Requirements)

1 Directors’ Remuneration

The number of directors in each of the remuneration bands are as follows:

Group Company

Period from Period from

Year ended 1/7/2003 to Year ended 1/7/2003 to

 31/12/2004 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2003

$500,000 & above – – – –

$250,000 to $499,999 – – – –

Below $250,000 19 14 9 5

19 14 9 5
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Shareholding Statistics
As at 14 March 2005

Authorised share capital : US$28,000,000

Issued and fully paid-up : US$17,559,550.50

Number of shareholders : 5,447

Class of shares : Ordinary shares of US$0.05 each

Voting rights of Ordinary shareholders : Every member of the Company who is present in person or by proxy or
attorney or in case of a corporation by a representative shall have one vote
on a show of hands and on a poll every such member shall have one vote for
every share of which he is the holder.

Shareholdings Held in Hands of Public

Based on information available to the Company as at 14 March 2005, approximately 31.66% of the issued ordinary shares
of the Company is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Range of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 - 999 1 0.02 10 0.00

1,000 - 10,000 4,185 76.83 19,023,000 5.42

10,001 - 1,000,000 1,248 22.91 58,058,000 16.53

1,000,001 and above 13 0.24 274,110,000 78.05

5,447 100.00 351,191,010 100.00

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 99,900,430  28.45

2 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 78,862,126  22.46

3 Wong Sow Voon 34,742,860  9.89

4 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 23,785,584  6.77

5 Quest Capital Ltd 10,000,000  2.85

6 Chang Pan Peter 8,000,000  2.28

7 Yang Qin 4,925,000  1.40

8 Flinderslane Asset Management Ltd 3,713,000  1.06

9 Morph Inversments Ltd 3,670,000  1.05

10 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 2,575,000  0.73

11 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 1,527,000  0.43

12 OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 1,351,000  0.38

13 Oun Kuo-Yang 1,058,000  0.30

14 Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 826,000  0.24

15 Kiang Tiang Tan 680,000  0.19

16 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 565,000  0.16

17 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 532,000  0.15

18 Hoo Len Yuh 504,000  0.14

19 Tan Peng Heang 500,000  0.14

20 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 466,000  0.13

278,183,000 79.20
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Shareholding Statistics
As at 14 March 2005

EXTRACT FROM REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

No. of Shares No. of Shares

S/No. Name of Substantial Shareholder Direct Interests Deemed Interests Total %

1 Global Financial Holdings Ltd 84,449,154 0 84,449,154 24.05

2 Zhang Yan 0 84,449,154 84,449,154 24.05

3 Shan Baiyu 0 84,449,154 84,449,154 24.05

4 Gereg Holdings Ltd 56,279,986 0 56,279,986 16.03

5 Wong Sow Voon 34,742,860 56,279,986 91,022,846 25.92

6 Powermatics Investments Ltd 24,840,000 0 24,840,000 7.07

7 Guo Qianlong 0 24,840,000 24,840,000 7.07

8 Asia Power Ventures Corporation Ltd 23,210,584 0 23,210,584 6.61

9 Chang Pan, Peter 16,477,416 23,210,584 39,688,000 11.30



70

Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 8th Annual General Meeting of ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED will be held at

Training Room 1003, NTUC Centre, 1 Marina Boulevard, Level 10, Singapore 018989 on Friday, 29 April 2005 at 3.00 pm for

the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December

2004 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a first and final tax exempt dividend of S$0.005 per share and a special tax exempt dividend of S$0.002

per share for the year ended 31 December 2004. (Jul – Dec 2003: S$0.0025). (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Director retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association:

Dr Chang Pan, Peter (Resolution 3)

(Dr Chang Pan, Peter, will upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a Non-Executive Director, and

Member of the Asia Power Share Option Scheme Administration Committee.)

4. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association:

Mr Addyson Xue  (Resolution 4)

(Mr Addyson Xue, will upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Executive Vice Chairman of the

Board of Directors and Chairman of the Strategic Development Committee and the Asia Power Share Option Scheme

Administration Committee.)

Mr Zhang Gangzhu  (Resolution 5)

(Mr Zhang Gangzhu, will upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Independent Director, Chairman

of the Nominating Committee, Member of the Audit Committee and Strategic Development Committee.)

Mr Chen Hailiang  (Resolution 6)

(Mr Chen Hailiang, will upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a Non-Executive Director of the

Company and Member of the Remuneration Committee.)

Mr Meng Xianwu  (Resolution 7)

(Mr Meng Xianwu, will upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a Non-Executive Director of the

Company and Member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee.)

Ms Wang Liping  (Resolution 8)

(Ms Wang Liping, will upon re-election as a Non-Executive Director of the Company, remain as an Independent

Director of the Company and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.)

5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$112,500 for the year ended 31 December 2004.

(Jul – Dec 2003: S$43,750) (Resolution 9)

6. To re-appoint KPMG as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 10)

7. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
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AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions, with or without modifications:

8. Authority to allot and issue shares up to fifty per cent (50%) of the issued capital (Resolution 11)

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange

Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to allot and issue shares in

the share capital of the Company at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such

persons as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares to

be allotted and issued pursuant to this resolution shall not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the issued share capital of

the Company at the date of the mandate, of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro

rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the issued share

capital of the Company and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting

continue in force until the date on which the next Annual General Meeting is held or the date by which the next

Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

9. Authority to offer and grant options and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the Asia Power Share Option Scheme.

(Resolution 12)

That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to offer and grant options in accordance with the

rules of the Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”), and pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act

(Chapter 50) to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the Company as may be required to be

issued pursuant to the exercise of the options in accordance with the rules of the Scheme, provided always that the

aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the total

issued share capital of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Pang Hin Long

Company Secretary

12 April 2005

Explanatory Notes on Special Business to be Transacted

(i) The ordinary resolution proposed in No.11 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the
above Meeting until the date on which the next Annual General Meeting is held or the date by which the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, to allot and
issue shares in the Company. The number of shares, which the Directors may allot and issue under this resolution,
shall not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of the mandate. For
issue of shares other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders, the aggregate number of shares to be
issued shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the issued share capital of the Company.

Rule 806(3) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited currently provides for
the percentage of issued share capital to be calculated based on the share capital at the time that the resolution
is passed (taking into account the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities and employee share
options on issue at the time that the resolution is passed, which were issued pursuant to previous shareholder
approval), adjusted for any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

(ii) The ordinary resolution as proposed in No. 12 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to issue shares
pursuant to the Scheme which was approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 19 October 1999 of
up to an amount not exceeding in total fifteen per cent (15%) of the issued share capital of the Company for
the time being pursuant to the exercise of the options under the Scheme.

Rule 859 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited provides for the shareholders
who are eligible to participate in the Scheme must abstain from voting on any resolution relating to the Scheme
(other than a resolution relating to the participation of, or grant of options to, directors and employees of the
Company’s parent company and its subsidiaries).
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Number of shares available under the Scheme and its administration

The aggregate number of shares available under the Scheme over which the Administration Committee may grant
options on any date added to the number of shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under the
Scheme is 52,678,652 shares. It shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the total issued shares of the Company
on that day, based on the calculation in accordance with Rule 806(3) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST as above-
mentioned in the Explanatory Notes.

Appendix to Notice of Annual General Meeting

(a) Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Directors of the Company collectively and individually accept full responsibility to the accuracy of the information
given herein and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief there
are no other facts the omission of which would made any statements in this Notice misleading.

(b) Inspection of Document

The Terms of the Asia Power Share Option Scheme is available for inspection at the registered office of the Company
at 5 Shenton Way #12-08 UIC Building Singapore 068808 during normal business hours on any weekday (Saturday
and Public Holidays excepted) from the date of this Notice up to and including the date of the Annual General
Meeting.

Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote in his
stead. A proxy does not need to be a member of the Company.

2. If the appointer is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer or
attorney.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 5 Shenton Way
#12-08 UIC Building Singapore 068808 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting.

NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE

Notice is hereby given that the transfer books and the register of members will be closed on 7 May 2005 for the preparation
of dividend warrants. Duly completed transfers received by the Company’s Registrar M & C Services Pte Ltd at 138
Robinson Road #17-00 The Corporate Office Singapore 068906 up to the close of business at 5.00 pm on 6 May 2005 will
be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the above dividend.

In respect of ordinary share in the securities account with The Central Depository (Pte) Ltd (“CDP”), the dividend will be
paid by the Company to the CDP, which will distribute the entitlement to shareholders.

The first and final tax exempt dividend and special tax exempt dividend, if approved by shareholders, will be paid on 18
May 2005.



Proxy Form
Annual General Meeting

I/We 

of 
being a member of the above-named Company, hereby appoint

Proportion of

NRIC/Passport Shareholdings

Name Address Number No. of

shares %

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Proportion of

NRIC/Passport Shareholdings

Name Address Number No. of

shares %

or failing him/her the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf and
if necessary to demand a poll, at the 8th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 29 April 2005 at 3.00 pm,
and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the Ordinary
Resolutions as set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies
will vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.

No. Resolutions Relating to For Against

1 Adoption of Reports and Accounts

2 Declaration of First and Final Dividend and Special Dividend

Re-election of Director (under Article 91)
3 Dr Chang Pan, Peter

Re-election of Directors (under Article 97)
4 Mr. Addyson Xue

5 Mr. Zhang Gangzhu

6 Mr. Chen Hailiang

7 Mr. Meng Xianwu

8 Ms Wang Liping

9 Approval of Directors’ fees

10 Re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s auditors and authorise the
Directors to fix their remuneration

11 Authorisation to Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 161 of the
Companies Act (Cap 50)

12 Authorisation to Directors to offer and grant options, and to allot and issue
shares pursuant to the Asia Power Share Option Scheme

IMPORTANT

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy the shares, the Annual Report is sent to them at the
request of their CPF Approved Nominees FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used
or purported to be used by them.

Total number of Shares held

✂
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Co. Reg. No. 199701487C)

ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED

Dated this  day of  2005

Signature(s) of member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES PRINTED ON THE REVERSE.



Please

Affix Postage

Stamp

1. The proxy, duly completed (together with the power of attorney, if any, under which it is signed or a certified copy
thereof), must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 5 Shenton Way #12-08 UIC Building Singapore
068808 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the holding of the Meeting or the adjournment
of the Meeting thereof.

2. This proxy must be signed by the member or his duly authorised attorney or, if the member is a body corporate,
signed under its common seal or by its attorney or duly authorised officer of the corporation.

3. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this Meeting is entitled to appoint up to two proxies to
attend and vote instead of him, such proxy does not need to be a member of the Company.

4. When a member appoints two proxies the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his
holdings to be represented by each proxy.

5. The Company may reject this proxy if it is improperly completed or illegible. For a member who is a Direct Account
Holder or Depository Agent with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”) the Company may reject the proxy if
such member is not shown in the records of the CDP as certified by CDP to the Company to have the Company’s
shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed
for the Meeting or the adjournment of the Meeting thereof.

First fold here

The Company Secretary
Asia Power Corporation Limited

5 Shenton Way
#12-08 UIC Building
Singapore 068808

Second fold here

Third fold along this line and glue overleaf
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